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P R E S S U R E  O N  T H E  W O R L D ’ S  F A R M E R S

has never been greater. Our population continues to grow towards 
ten billion people by 2050; demand for animal protein is rising which 
requires more feed production; biofuel demand is also increasing; 
and the acreage available for farming is decreasing. This pressure is 
compounded by the higher cost of inputs and societal demand for 
more sustainable farming practices and outcomes.

Technological innovation and adoption are the solution to
alleviating the enormous pressure farmers face. AGCO and its brands
are laser focused on delivering innovative solutions that alleviate 
farmer pain points while simultaneously contributing to a more 
sustainable future.

2022 Performance

As farmer demand for AGCO technology remained high across the 
crop cycle, our focus throughout 2022 was maximizing production 
to support our farmers. Helping farmers sustainably feed our world is
core to our purpose. The urgency of that purpose was underscored by
the war in Ukraine and its resulting impact on the global food supply.

Although our production was temporarily affected by a 
ransomware cyber attack in May, our team worked around the clock 
to restore operations and minimize disruptions. Thanks to our team’s
efforts, commitment, and resiliency, we delivered record volumes to 
farmers in 2022.

AGCO achieved record results in 2022 supported by demand for
our new technology to replace aging fleets, favorable farm economics 
and constrained industry production. During 2022, AGCO reported 
net sales of approximately $12.7 billion, an increase of approximately
13.6% compared to 2021. Adjusted operating margins expanded over 
120 basis points to 10.3%, due to robust demand and favorable pricing 
that helped to offset significant inflationary pressures. Reported net 
income per share was $11.87 and adjusted net income per share was 
$12.42, an increase of approximately 0.2% and 19.7%, respectively,
from 2021. Free cash flow was approximately $450 million, as 
compared to $390 million in 2021. Given these strong results, we 

Eric P. Hansotia 
Chairman, President, and 

Chief Executive Officer

C H A I R M A N ’ S  M E S S A G E

Dear fellow
shareholders, 
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and partners:
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increased our quarterly dividend 20% to $0.24 per share per quarter, 
and we paid our second special variable dividend of $4.50 per share.
These results are further evidence that our farmer-first strategy and 
accelerated investment in precision ag technology are providing 
meaningful results for farmers and shareholders. 

Farmer-First Strategy Execution

Our strategy is simple:  deliver exceptional customer experiences
that align with brand promises; empower farmers to interact with 
our brands at every stage of the customer journey online, at a 
dealer, or both; and deliver high quality, smart solutions that produce 
sustainable agronomic and economic value to farmers.

Seeking and responding to farmers’ feedback is the foundation 
of creating exceptional customer experiences that meet and exceed 
their expectations. One tool we have implemented across our global 
brands is Net Promoter Score (NPS). NPS measures whether a 
customer would recommend AGCO to others and includes additional 
questions to understand the factors that impact their answers. We 
are actively leveraging this farmer feedback to make improvements 
across our business which resulted in a 2022 NPS that improved over 
10% versus 2021 and was well beyond our target.

Our dealers are essential partners in delivering the customer 
experiences our farmers require. We have raised performance 
expectations across our global network and have implemented a 
global standard scorecard to increase accountability. Recognizing 
that farmers want to perform an increasing number of activities online, 
we have continued to deploy digital tools across parts, service and 
financing while digitizing the customer experience. Together, these 
activities are changing the game—enabling us to serve farmers 
wherever and however they prefer.

Farmers play an essential role in addressing ongoing food security 
and the effects of climate change. Technological innovation and 
adoption are key to meeting current and future farming challenges, 
and AGCO’s vision is to be farmers’ most trusted partner for industry-
leading, smart farming solutions.

We are continuing to innovate and grow our business in those 
areas that deliver significant value to farmers and margin-rich growth 
to our shareholders:  

• Expanding Fendt in North and South America brings a world-
class, full line product portfolio to the world’s most demanding 
farmers. Fendt innovation was recognized across the crop 
cycle, including tractors, planters, sprayers, and hay equipment. 
Leveraging the new AGCO Power CORE engine, the new Fendt 
700 Vario Gen 7 was named Tractor of the Year at EIMA, one of 
the major agricultural trade shows in the EME region.

• Global parts and services innovation increases parts availability 
and enables proactive service while delivering high margins and 
reducing cyclicality. AGCO is an industry leader in parts fill rate, 
which helps keep farmers in the field farming.

• Precision agriculture innovation delivers meaningful economic 
and agronomic value to farmers, enabling a more sustainable 
future by increasing yield while minimizing inputs and impact. 
Turbocharged by our 2021 acquisitions, our precision agriculture

In 2022, our precision  
agriculture sales grew to 
approximately $700 million, 
which was a 29% increase  
over the prior year. We are 
well on track to achieve our 
recently increased goal of 
$1 billion in revenue by 2025.
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business continues to be one of our key innovation engines, 
delivering retrofit solutions across the crop cycle that make
machines from any brand and almost any vintage smarter today, 
while enabling new capabilities in our brand portfolio. Expanding 
their farmer-first mindset beyond retrofit, Precision Planting 
announced Radicle AgronomicsTM. Radicle AgronomicsTM brings
a new generation of tools to professional agronomists that 
enables accelerated, automated soil sampling on the farm. This 
game-changing innovation enables better nutrient management, 
environmental stewardship, and farmer profitability. In 2022, our 
precision agriculture sales grew to approximately $700 million, 
which was a 29% increase over the prior year. We are well on 
track to achieve our recently increased goal of $1 billion in 
revenue by 2025.

Ongoing Commitment to Governance

We welcomed one new director to our Board of Directors in 2022,
further progressing our Board refreshment program. David Sagehorn,
retired Chief Financial Officer at Oshkosh Corporation, brings 
extensive experience in technology-rich vehicle production to
our Board. We also established a Board committee focused on 
sustainability. Chaired by Bob De Lange, Group President, Services, 
Distribution and Digital at Caterpillar, Inc., this dedicated Committee 
acknowledges the positive impact the agriculture industry and AGCO 
can make in addressing global climate change and food security. 
This new Committee will provide keen input on environmental and 
social matters.

Accelerating Impact

We are focused on delivering winning outcomes for our farmers, our 
shareholders, and our employees. We are transforming our culture 
and employee experience to make AGCO the employer of choice in 
the agriculture industry. Just as we listen and respond to customer 
feedback, we listen and act on employee feedback. In 2022, more 
than 19,000 AGCO employees shared their voice on how to make
AGCO the best place to grow a meaningful career.

Fortune favors the bold, and now is the time to accelerate our 
impact. Farmers face immense challenges, and technological 
innovation is the best opportunity to address them. We are innovating 
across our brand portfolio to enable farmer success today while 
providing sustainable outcomes for future generations. 

I am proud of how the AGCO team has achieved another year 
of record results for our farmers, their fellow employees, and our 
shareholders. Together, we are advancing the future of AGCO and 
agriculture. 

Thank you for your ongoing trust and partnership.

Sincerely,Sincerely,,

Eric Hansotia
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

Financial Highlights

N E T  S A L E S
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2022 2021 2020

Income from 
Operations

Net 
Income(1) (2)

Net Income 
per Share(1) (2)

Income from
Operations

Net
Income(1) (2)

Net Income
per Share(1)

Income from 
Operations

Net
Income(1) (2)

Net Income
per Share(1)

As reported $   1,265.4 $     889.6 $      11.87 $    1,001.4 $     897.0 $       11.85 $      599.7 $      427.1 $        5.65

Impairment of Russian joint ventures 36.0 23.8 0.32 – – – – – –

Impairment charge—tillage joint 
venture

– – – – – – 20.0 10.0  0.13

Restructuring expenses 6.1 4.8 0.06 15.3 11.8 0.16 19.7 19.5 0.26

Gain on full acquisition of IAS joint 
venture

– (3.4) (0.05) – – – – – –

Write-down of investment in Russian 
finance joint venture

– 4.8 0.06 – – – – –

Divestiture-related foreign currency 
translation release

– 11.4 0.15 – – – – – –

Gain on sale of investment in affiliate – – – – – – – (32.5) (0.43)

Deferred income tax 
adjustments

– – – – (123.4) (1.63) – – –

As adjusted $    1,307.5 $     930.9 $      12.42 $    1,016.7 $     785.4 $       10.38 $     639.4 $      424.2 $       5.61

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures (In millions, except per share amounts)

(1) Net income and net income per share amounts are after tax.
(2) Rounding may impact summation of amounts.

2022 2021  2020

Net cash provided by operating 
activities

$    838.2 $    660.2 $    896.5

Less: capital expenditures (388.3) (269.8) (269.9)

Free cash flow $    449.9 $    390.4 $    626.6

This annual report includes forward-looking statements, including the statements
in the Chairman’s Message and other statements in this report, regarding
market demand, strategic initiatives, commitments and their effects, and general
economic conditions. These statements are subject to risks that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the statements,
including:

Our financial results depend entirely upon the agricultural industry, and
factors that adversely affect the agricultural industry generally, including declines
in the general economy, adverse weather, increases in farm input costs, and
lower commodity prices, will adversely affect us. In addition, it is unclear at this
point what the impact upon us will be from the recent significant increases in
energy costs. We face significant competition, and if we are unable to compete
successfully against other agricultural equipment manufacturers, we would lose
our customers and our net sales would decline.

Our success depends on the introduction of new products, which requires
substantial expenditures and may not be well-received in the marketplace. In
addition, if we are unable to deliver precision agriculture and high-tech solutions
to our customers, it could have material adverse effects on our performance.

Most of our sales depend on retail customers obtaining financing, and any
disruption in their ability to obtain financing, whether due to economic downturns
or otherwise, will result in the sale of fewer products by us.

A majority of the retail sales of our products is financed by our retail finance
joint ventures with Rabobank, and any interruption or decrease on Rabobank’s 
part in funding the venture would adversely impact net sales.

We depend on suppliers for raw materials, components, and parts for our 
products, and any failure by our suppliers to provide products as needed, whether
due to the coronavirus or otherwise, or by us to promptly address supplier issues,
will adversely impact our ability to timely and efficiently manufacture and sell
products. Recently, we have experienced significant supply chain issues with
respect to a wide range of parts and components with a portion arising from the
global semiconductor shortage. We may continue to face supplier bottlenecks 

and delays in all regions, as well as continued challenges with freight logistics,
and we continue to work to mitigate the impact of these issues in order to meet
end-market demand.

A majority of our sales and manufacturing take place outside the United
States, and many of our sales involve products that are manufactured in one 
country and sold in a different country; as a result, we are exposed to risks related
to foreign laws, taxes and tariffs, trade restrictions, economic conditions, labor
supply and relations, political conditions and governmental policies.

These risks may delay or reduce our realization of value from our international
operations. Among these risks are the uncertain consequences of Brexit,
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, and tariffs imposed on exports to and imports from
China. In particular, we sell a meaningful quantity of products in Ukraine (which
is a significant grain producer), and while it is clear that the Russian invasion of 
Ukraine has and will impact our business, the extent of that impact currently
is unclear.

Volatility with respect to currency exchange rates and interest rates can 
adversely affect our reported results of operations and the competitiveness of 
our products.

We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations, and
our compliance with, or our failure to comply with, existing or future laws and
regulations could delay production of our products or otherwise adversely affect
our business.

We are subject to raw material price fluctuations, which can adversely affect 
our manufacturing costs. We disclaim any obligation to update forward-looking
statements except as required by law.

We expect COVID-19 to continue to impact our business, although the manner
and extent to which it impacts us will depend on future developments, including
the duration of the pandemic, the timing, distribution and impact of vaccinations,
and possible mutations of the virus that are more contagious or resistant to
current vaccines.

Forward-looking Statements
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Information Regarding the
Annual Meeting

INFORMATION REGARDING PROXIES
This proxy solicitation is made by the Board of Directors of AGCO Corporation, which has its principal executive offff ices at
4205 River Green Parkway, Duluth, Georgia 30096. By signing and returning the enclosed proxy card, you authorize the
persons named as proxies on the proxy card to represent you at the meeting and vote your shares.

If you attend the meeting, you may vote by ballot. If you do not attend the meeting, your shares can be voted only when
represented by a proxy either pursuant to the enclosed proxy card or otherwise. You also may vote over the telephone or
electronically via the internet as described on the proxy card provided to you. You may indicate a vote on the enclosed
proxy card in connection with any of the listed proposals, and your shares will be voted accordingly. If you indicate a
preference to abstain from voting, no vote will be cast. You may revoke your proxy card before balloting begins by notifyff ing
the Corporate Secretary in writing at 4205 River Green Parkway, Duluth, Georgia 30096. In addition, you may revoke your
proxy card before it is voted by signing and delivering prior to the voting a proxy card bearing a later date. You may also
revoke your proxy card by attending the meeting and voting in person. If you return a signed proxy card that does not
indicate your voting preferences, the persons named as proxies on the proxy card will vote your shares (i) in favor of all of
the ten director nominees described below; (ii) in favor of the one-year frequency for the non-binding stockholder vote
relating to the compensation of the Company’s “Named Executive Offff icers” (“NEOs”); (iii) in favor of the non-binding
advisory resolution to approve the compensation of the Company’s NEOs; (iv) in favor of ratification of the appointment of
KPMG LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2023; and (v) in their best judgment with
respect to any other business brought before the Annual Meeting.

The enclosed proxy card is solicited by the Board, and the cost of solicitation of proxy cards will be borne by the Company.
The Company may retain an outside firm to aid in the solicitation of proxy cards, the cost of which the Company expects
would not exceed $25,000. Proxy solicitation also may be made personally or by telephone by directors, offff icers or
employees of the Company, without added compensation. The Company will reimburse brokers, custodians and nominees
for their customary expenses in forwarding proxy material to beneficial owners.

This proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card are first being sent to stockholders on or about March 27, 2023.
The Company’s 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K is also enclosed and should be read in conjn unction with the matters set
forth herein.

INFORMATION REGARDING VOTING
Only stockholders of record as of the close of business on March 17, 2023, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the
Annual Meeting. On March 17, 2023, the Company had outstanding 74,846,197 shares of common stock, each of which
is entitled to one vote on each matter coming before the meeting. No cumulative voting rights exist, and dissenters’ rights
for stockholders are not applicable to the matters being proposed. For directions to the offff ices of the Company where the
Annual Meeting will be held, you may contact our corporate offff ice at (770) 813-9200.

QUORUM REQUIREMENT
A quorum of the Company’s stockholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. The Company’s By-yy Laws provide that a
quorum is present if a maja ority of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company entitled to vote at the meeting
are present in person or represented by proxy. Votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting will be tabulated by
the inspector of elections appointed for the meeting, who will also determine whether a quorum is present for the
transaction of business. Abstentions and “broker non-votes” will be treated as shares that are present and entitled to vote
for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. A broker non-vote occurs on an item when a broker or other
nominee is not permitted to vote on that item without instruction from the beneficial owner of the shares and the beneficial
owner did not give instruction.
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NIELS PÖRKSEN

Age: 59

Director since October 2021

DAVID SAGEHORN

Age: 59

Director since March 2022

• Chief Executive Offff icer at Südzucker AG since 2020;
Südzucker AG (SZU: GR Xetra) is based in Germany
and is one of the world’s largest sugar producers.

• Former Group Executive of Portfolio Solutions at
Nufarm, a leading agricultural chemical company based
in Australia.

• Former member of the Executive Board of Nordzucker.

• Former Chairman of the Board of Industrieverbrand
Agrar, a European agriculture industry association.

• Various leadership positions with German-based BASF
in various countries including Divisional Head of Global
Strategic Marketing, Managing Director for Plant
Protection and Head of Product Development,
Consulting and Registration.

• Former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Offff icer of Oshkosh Corporation.

• Various other management positions with Oshkosh
Corporation from 2000 to 2007, including Vice
President and Treasurer, Vice President, Business
Development, and Vice President, Defense Segment.

• Member of the Board of Directors of Chart Industries,
Inc., where he servrr es on the Compensation Committee
and is Chair of the Audit Committee.

Qualifications and Skills:
As a senior executive in the agricultural chemicals and
commodities industries for over 20 years, Mr. Pörksen
brings first-hand experience of many of the issues that
farmers face throughout the world. Mr. Pörksen has
deep strategy experience combined with operational
expertise in agricultural engineering, quality,
manufacturing, sales, marketing and product
management. He also brings a wealth of knowledge and
involvement in international agricultural and commodity
markets, especially in EME, from which 51% of AGCO’s
sales are derived.

Qualifications and Skills:
Through his servrr ice for 13 years as the Chief Financial
Offff icer of a large, multi-national manufacturer of
construction, defense and other heavy equipment,
Mr. Sagehorn has first-hand experience with many of the
finance and accounting issues faced by AGCO, as well
as with the global compliance environment. His prior
experience in business development adds value as
AGCO continues to consider expansion through
acquisitions, particularly in the precision farming area.
His expertise also adds depth to the Board’s expertise
with audit, public-company disclosure and related
functions.

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
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MALLIKA
SRINIVASAN

Age: 63

Director since July 2011

MATTHEW TSIEN

Age: 62

Director since January 2021

• Chairperson and Managing Director of Tractors and
Farm Equipment Limited, the second largest
agricultural tractor manufacturer in India, since
December 2019 and previously held various
progressing positions at TAFE since 1986

• Chairperson of the Indian Government’s Public
Enterprises Selection Board

• Member of the Global Board of the U.S. India Business
Council and the BRICS Women’s Alliance

• Former member of the Board of Directors of Tata Steel
Limited (India) and Tata Consumer Products Limited
(India)

• Former President of the Tractor Manufacturers
Association of India

• Former member of the Board of Governors of the
Indian Institute of Technology, Madras, and the Indian
Institute of Management, Tiruchirappalli

• Former Executive Vice President and Chief Technology
Offff icer, General Motors

• Former President, General Motors Ventures, 2020 to
2021

• Former President of General Motors China 2014 to
2020

• Various other leadership positions since joining
General Motors in 1976, including Executive Vice
President and President of GM China; Vice President
Planning, Program Management and Strategic
Alliances, China; Executive Vice President, SAIC-GM-
Wuling Automotive; Executive Director, Global
Technology Engineering; Executive Director, Vehicle
Systems, North America Product Development; Chief
Technology Offff icer and Director, Business Planning,
GM China

Qualifications and Skills:
As the leader of India’s second largest tractor
manufacturer, Ms. Srinivasan has over 36 years of first-
hand experience in the agricultural farm machinery
industry in India, emerging markets, and several of
other markets servrr ed by AGCO. Ms. Srinivasan also
has expertise in strategy and works in policy
formulation and leadership development at corporate,
state and national levels. Ms. Srinivasan brings to the
Board both agricultural equipment and distribution
knowledge and expertise together with public company
board servrr ice.

Qualifications and Skills:
Through his 40-year career with General Motors prior to
his recent retirement, including in his roles as
Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Offff icer,
Mr. Tsien helped lead one of the largest manufacturers
in the U.S. evolve through successive generations of
technology and performance requirements. He also has
exceptional international experience, including his
servrr ice as President of GM China, where he held profit
and loss responsibility and led 50,000 workers
producing automobiles for both the Chinese market and
export. Mr. Tsien brings to the Board years of
experience in engineering, electrification, connectivity,
manufacturing, supply chain management and product
design. Mr. Tsien has significant expertise in the
management of, and investment in, evolving
technologies.

DIRECTOR RECRUITMENT
On an ongoing basis, we actively are seeking potential director candidates. Our Governance Committee, working with its
independent advisors, identifies the skills that are desirable in light of the skills of our existing directors, particularly those
who are expected to retire in the near-rr term, and regularly intervrr iews potential candidates. As an example, David Sagehorn,
who joined the Board in 2022, brought experience in finance and accounting, both of which were skills that the Governance
Committee identified as important for a future director.

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
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Principal Holders of Common Stock

The following table sets forth certain information as of March 17, 2023, regarding persons or groups known to the
Company who are, or may be deemed to be, the beneficial owner of more than five percent of the Company’s common
stock. This information is based upon SEC filings by the individual and entities listed below, and the percentage given is
based on 74,846,197 shares outstanding.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Shares of Common Stock Percent of Class

Mallika Srinivasan
Tractors and Farm Equipment Limited
Old No. 35, New No. 77, Nungambakkam High Road
Chennai 600 034, India

12,171,827 (1) 16.3 %

The Vanguard Group
100 Vanguard Boulevard
Malvern, PA 19355

6,622,963 (2) 8.8 %

BlackRock, Inc.
55 East 52nd Street
New York, NY 10022

6,955,636 (3) 9.3 %

(1) For Ms. Srinivasan, includes shares held individually (21,675 shares), shares held through TAFE (8,886,831 shares), and shares held
through TAFE Motors and Tractors Limited (3,263,321 shares). For TAFE, includes shares held directly (8,886,831 shares) and shares
held through TAFE Motors and Tractors Limited (3,263,321 shares). Ms. Srinivasan is the Chairperson and Managing Director of TAFE.
The Company owns a 20.7% interest in TAFE.

(2) The Vanguard Group has sole voting power with respect to none of its shares, shared voting power with respect to 24,960 of its
shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 6,536,078 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 86,885 of its shares.

(3) BlackRock, Inc. has sole voting power with respect to 6,758,627 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 6,955,636 shares.
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The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock by the
Company’s directors, the director nominees, the Chief Executive Offff icer of the Company, the Chief Financial Offff icer of the
Company, the other NEOs and all executive offff icers and directors as a group, all as of March 17, 2023. Except as
otherwise indicated, each such individual has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares set forth in
the table.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Shares of

Common Stock(1)

Shares That May
be Acquired
Within 60 Days Percent of Class

Michael C. Arnold 16,021 — *

Sondra L. Barbour 5,417 — *

Suzanne P. Clark 7,571 — *

Bob De Lange 2,420 — *

George E. Minnich 21,040 — *

Niels Pörksen 1,101 — *

David Sagehorn(2) 1,296 — *

Mallika Srinivasan(3) 12,171,827 — 16.3 %

Matthew Tsien 2,309 — *

Damon J. Audia 6,076 — *

Robert B. Crain 25,975 — *

Torsten R.W. Dehner 18,475 — *

Eric P. Hansotia 90,736 — *

All executive officers and directors as a group (20 persons) 12,414,285 — 16.6 %

* Less than one percent
(1) Includes the following number of restricted shares of the Company’s common stock as a result of restricted stock grants under the
Company’s incentive plans by the following individuals: Mr. Arnold — 1,036; Ms. Barbour — 1,296; Ms. Clark — 1,296; Mr. De Lange
— 1,296; Mr. Minnich — 777; Mr. Pörksen — 1,101; Mr. Sagehorn — 1,296; Ms. Srinivasan — 907; Mr. Tsien — 1,296; All directors
as a group — 10,301.

(2) Mr. Sagehorn joined the Board on March 15, 2022.
(3) Includes shares held individually (21,675 shares) and through TAFE (8,886,831 shares) and TAFE Motors and Tractors Limited
(3,263,321 shares). Ms. Srinivasan is the Chairperson and Managing Director of TAFE. The Company owns a 20.7% interest in TAFE.

PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK
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Compensation Discussion & Analysis

NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS (NEOs)

Damon J. Audia
Senior Vice
President, Chief
Financial Officer

Andrew H. Beck
Senior Advisor
and Former
Chief Financial
Officer

Robert B. Crain
Senior Vice
President,
Customer
Experience

Torsten R.W.
Dehner
Senior Vice
President and
General
Manager, Fendt/
Valtra

Eric P. Hansotia
Chairman,
President and
Chief Executive
Officer

Hans-Bernd
Veltmaat
Strategic Advisor
and Former Chief
Supply Chain
Officer

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

OUR 2022 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

NET SALES
($ BILLIONS)

ADJUSTED OPERATING
MARGIN
(%)

ADJUSTED EPS
($)

*Refer to the Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
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Pay Versus Performance

Value of Initial Fixed $100
Investment Based On:

Year

Summary
Compensation
Table Total for
PEO ($)(1)

Compensation
Actually Paid to
PEO ($)(1)

Average Summary
Compensation Table
Total for Non-PEO
NEO ($)(1)

Average
Compensation
Actually Paid to
Non-PEO NEO
($)(1)

Total
Shareholder
Return(1)

Peer Group
Total

Shareholder
Return(1)

Net Income
($)(1)

Company-Selected
Measure (Adjusted
Operating Margin)

(%)(2)

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i)

2022(3) $ 13,350,453 $25,100,778 $ 3,122,828 $ 4,771,244 195.59 130.62 $ 889.6 10.3 %

2021(3) 11,181,748 11,598,468 2,857,547 2,484,180 156.50 142.11 897.0 9.1 %

2020(3) 13,852,298 14,460,470 4,375,062 5,958,183 134.77 114.59 427.1 7.0 %

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A 100.00 100.00 N/A N/A

(1) All balances are whole numbers except for net income, which are in millions.
(2) Adjusted operating margin is a non-GAAP measure, and a reconciliation is provided to the closest U.S. GAAP measure in the appendix
at the end of this proxy statement.

(3) Mr. Richenhagen was the Company’s PEO for the year ended December 31, 2020. Mr. Hansotia was the Company’s PEO for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

PEO NEO

Prior FYE
Current FYE
Fiscal Year

12/31/2021
12/31/2022
2022

12/31/2020
12/31/2021
2021

12/31/2019
12/31/2020
2020

12/31/2021
12/31/2022
2022

12/31/2020
12/31/2021
2021

12/31/2019
12/31/2020
2020

SCT Total $13,350,453 $11,181,748 $13,852,298 $ 3,122,828 $ 2,857,547 $ 4,375,062

- Change in Pension Value in SCT (363,569) (652,962) (2,957,462) — (258,803) (1,620,822)

+ Pension Service Cost 550,703 (1,406,646) 704,019 117,686 (1,177,631) 316,256

- Grant Date Fair Value of Option Awards and
Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year (8,573,886) (6,978,345) (5,842,745) (1,457,916) (1,040,214) (925,305)

+ Fair Value at Fiscal Year-End of Outstanding
and Unvested Option Awards and Stock
Awards Granted in Fiscal Year 17,761,571 8,341,152 — 2,325,687 1,243,380 2,314,043

+ Change in Fair Value of Outstanding and
Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards
Granted in Prior Fiscal Years 1,907,911 615,190 — 297,958 496,394 1,170,583

+ Fair Value at Vesting of Option Awards and
Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year That
Vested During Fiscal Year — — 4,549,198 121,187 — —

+ Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of
Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in
Prior Fiscal Years For Which Applicable
Vesting Conditions Were Satisfied During
Fiscal Year 467,595 498,331 9,667,832 358,552 363,507 328,366

- Fair Value as of Prior Fiscal Year-End of
Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in
Prior Fiscal Years That Failed to Meet
Applicable Vesting Conditions During
Fiscal Year — — (5,512,670) (114,738) — —

Compensation Actually Paid $25,100,778 $11,598,468 $14,460,470 $ 4,771,244 $ 2,484,180 $ 5,958,183



Listed below are the three performance measures for AGCO that we consider to be the most important for driving long-term
returns for our stockholders. Adjusted operating margin and return on net assets “(RONA”) are both goals under our annual
incentive awards and are more fully discussed under “Compensation Discussion & Analysis – Description of Performance
Measures.” Revenue and RONA are both goals for the performance-based awards under our long-term incentive plan.
Over time we have considered different performance measures to be the most important, and we would expect them to
change in the future as well.

Most Important Company Performance Measures for Determining NEO Compensation

Adjusted operating margin(1)

Return on net assets (“RONA”)(1)

Revenue growth

(1) Adjusted operating margin and RONA are non-GAAP measures, and a reconciliation is provided to the closest U.S. GAAP measure in the
appendix at the end of this proxy statement.

RELATIONSHIPSWITHCERTAINPERFORMANCEMEASURES
Described below are the relationships between certain performance measures and the compensation summarized above:

Cumulative Shareholder Return. For the three years summarized above, cumulative shareholder return was 195.59%.
This compares to a decrease in compensation actually paid to our PEO in 2021 of $2,862,002 (or 19.8%) and an increase
in compensation actually paid to our PEO in 2022 of $13,502,310 (or 116.4%). Similarly, it compares to a decrease in
average compensation actually paid to our other NEOs in 2021 of $3,474,003 (or 58.3%) and an increase in average
compensation actually paid to our other NEOs of $2,287,064 (or 92.1%) in 2022. The significant increases in 2022 largely
reflect the increase in cumulative shareholder return and the corresponding increase in the fair value of equity awards.
The decreases in 2021 largely reflect a decrease in the fair value of equity awards. Both of these comparisons are
impacted by the timing and share prices at the time of awards, the performance goals that were embedded in those
awards and the Company’s financial performance during the relevant periods, as well as the share prices at the times that
fair value were determined. During 2021, the compensation for our PEO and other NEOs were also impacted by negative
service costs related to an amendment to the Company’s ENPP previously discussed. During the 2020 to 2022 three-year
period, the cumulative shareholder return of the Company’s peer group was 130.62%. The difference between peer group
performance and the Company’s largely is attributable to the Company’s improved adjusted operating margin combined
with strong performance generally for the agricultural equipment industry. Also, we had a change in our PEO between 2020
and 2021, which caused a reduction in compensation actually paid to our PEO in 2021.

Net Income. During the three years summarized above, the Company’s net income declined by $7.4 million (or 0.8%)
between 2021 and 2022 and increased by $469.9 million (or 110.0%) between 2020 and 2021. A discussion of the
factors that impacted net income is contained in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. Actual
compensation paid to and earned by our PEO and other NEOs and the primary reasons for changes between years are
described above. As a percentage of net income, our PEO and the average NEO’s compensation actually paid increased in
2022 and decreased in 2021.

Company Selected Measure. The Company selected measure is adjusted operating margin. As discussed under
“Compensation Discussion & Analysis – Description of Performance Measures,” this measure links to earnings and is key
to increasing performance and stockholder value. This measure increased by 2.1 percentage points in 2021 and 1.2
percentage points in 2022. We believe that the increases in total shareholder return for these periods is a product of the
increases in this measure, although there were other influences as well. In turn, indirectly, this measure is the driver of the
increase in actual cash compensation to both our PEO’s and other NEO’s compensation increases in 2022.

PAY VERSUS PERFORMANCE















Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
The following is a reconciliation of reported income from operations, net income and net income per share to adjusted
income from operations, net income and net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, 2020,
2019 and 2018 (in millions, except per share data).

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Income
from

Operations
Net

Income(1)(2)

Net
Income
per

Share(1)(2)

Income
from

Operations
Net

Income(1)

Net
Income
per

Share(1)

Income
from

Operations
Net

Income(1)(2)

Net
Income
per

Share(1)

As reported $1,265.4 $ 889.6 $ 11.87 $1,001.4 $ 897.0 $ 11.85 $ 599.7 $ 427.1 $ 5.65

Impairment of
Russian joint
ventures 36.0 23.8 0.32 — — — — — —

Impairment
charge - tillage
joint venture — — — — — — 20.0 10.0 0.13

Restructuring
expenses 6.1 4.8 0.06 15.3 11.8 0.16 19.7 19.5 0.26

Gain on full
acquisition of
IAS joint venture — (3.4) (0.05) — — — — — —

Write-down of
investment in
Russian finance
joint venture — 4.8 0.06 — — — — — —

Divestiture-
related foreign
currency
translation
release — 11.4 0.15 — — — — — —

Deferred income
tax adjustments — — — — (123.4) (1.63) — — —

Gain on sale of
investment in
affiliate — — — — — — — (32.5) (0.43)

As adjusted $1,307.5 $ 930.9 $ 12.42 $1,016.7 $ 785.4 $ 10.38 $ 639.4 $ 424.2 $ 5.61

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Income
from

Operations
Net

Income(1)(2)

Net
Income per
Share(1)(2)

Income
from

Operations
Net

Income(1)

Net
Income per
Share(1)

As reported $ 348.1 $ 125.2 $ 1.63 $ 489.0 $ 285.5 $ 3.58
Goodwill impairment charge 176.6 176.6 2.29 — — —
Restructuring expenses 9.0 8.3 0.11 12.0 8.7 0.11

Deferred income tax adjustment — 53.7 0.70 — — —

Swiss tax reform — (21.8) (0.28) — — —

Tax benefit associated with U.S. tax reform — — — — (8.5) (0.11)

Extinguishment of debt — — — — 24.5 0.31

As adjusted $ 533.7 $ 341.9 $ 4.44 $ 501.0 $ 310.2 $ 3.89

(1) Net income and net income per share amounts are after tax.
(2) Rounding may impact summation of amounts.



The following is a reconciliation of operating margin and adjusted operating margin for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 (in millions, except margin data):

2022 2021 2020

Net sales $ 12,651.4 $ 11,138.3 $ 9,149.7

Reported income from operations 1,265.4 1,001.4 599.7
Adjusted income from operations 1,307.5 1,016.7 639.4
Reported operating margin 10.0 % 9.0 % 6.6 %
Adjusted operating margin 10.3 % 9.1 % 7.0 %

The following is a reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

2022 2021

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 838.2 $ 660.2
Less:
Capital expenditures (388.3) (269.8)
Free cash flow $ 449.9 $ 390.4

The following table sets forth, for the year ended December 31, 2022, the impact to net sales of currency translation
(in millions, except percentages):

Years ended December 31, Change due to currency translation

2022 2021 % change from 2021 $ %

$ 12,651.4 $ 11,138.3 13.6 % $ (946.1) (8.5)%

The following is a reconciliation of return on net assets (“RONA”) for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(in millions, except RONA data):

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Accounts receivable(1) 1,160.5 936.3 808.5

Inventory 3,189.7 2,593.7 1,974.4

Plant, property & equipment 1,591.2 1,464.8 1,508.5

Goodwill 1,310.8 1,280.8 1,306.5

Intangible assets 364.4 392.2 455.6

Accounts payable(2) (1,356.0) (1,049.4) (830.4)

Accrued expenses (2,271.3) (2,062.2) (1,916.7)

Total net assets 3,989.3 3,556.2 3,306.4

Regional income 1,553.70 1,239.7 870.4

Corporate expenses (153.40) (135.3) (134.7)

Stock compensation expense (32.70) (26.6) (36.8)

Interest income 33.10 18.7 9.9

Discounts on sale of receivables (71.10) (24.5) (24.1)

Return 1,329.6 1,072.0 684.7

RONA 33.3 % 30.1 % 20.7 %

(1) Excludes receivables from affiliates of $60.8 million, $55.2 million and $47.5 million as of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

(2) Excludes payables to affiliates of $29.3 million, $28.9 million and $24.7 million as of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES
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AGCO CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions, except share amounts)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Common Stock
Defined
Benefit
Pension
Plans

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustment

Deferred
Gains

(Losses) on
Derivatives

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
LossShares Amount

Balance, December 31, 2019................................................................................. 75,471,562 $ 0.8 $ 4.7 $ 4,443.5 $ (296.4) $ (1,297.5) $ (1.3) $ (1,595.2) $ 53.2 $ 2,907.0
Net income (loss) .............................................................................................. — — — 427.1 — — — — (7.3) 419.8
Payment of dividends to shareholders .............................................................. — — — (48.0) — — — — — (48.0)
Issuance of non-employee director restricted stock.......................................... 19,862 — 1.1 — — — — — — 1.1
Issuance of stock awards................................................................................... 374,212 — (7.3) (8.4) — — — — — (15.7)
SSARs exercised............................................................................................... 66,736 — (4.1) (0.1) — — — — — (4.2)
Stock compensation .......................................................................................... — — 39.9 (3.4) — — — — — 36.5
Investment by noncontrolling interests............................................................. — — — — — — — — 0.2 0.2
Distribution to noncontrolling interest.............................................................. — — — — — — — — (3.3) (3.3)

Changes in noncontrolling interest ................................................................... — — — — — — — — (0.5) (0.5)
Purchases and retirement of common stock...................................................... (970,141) — (3.4) (51.6) — — — — — (55.0)
Defined benefit pension plans, net of taxes:
Prior service credit arising during year.......................................................... — — — — 0.3 — — 0.3 — 0.3
Net loss recognized due to settlement............................................................ — — — — 0.3 — — 0.3 — 0.3
Net actuarial loss arising during year............................................................. — — — — (32.7) — — (32.7) — (32.7)
Amortization of prior service cost included in net periodic pension cost...... — — — — 2.1 — — 2.1 — 2.1
Amortization of net actuarial losses included in net periodic pension cost... — — — — 13.1 — — 13.1 — 13.1
Deferred gains and losses on derivatives, net ................................................... — — — — — — (1.2) (1.2) — (1.2)
Change in cumulative translation adjustment ................................................... — — — — — (197.5) — (197.5) (4.3) (201.8)

Balance, December 31, 2020................................................................................. 74,962,231 0.8 30.9 4,759.1 (313.3) (1,495.0) (2.5) (1,810.8) 38.0 3,018.0
Net income........................................................................................................ — — — 897.0 — — — — 4.5 901.5
Payment of dividends to shareholders .............................................................. — — — (358.5) — — — — — (358.5)
Issuance of non-employee director restricted stock.......................................... 8,912 — 1.3 — — — — — — 1.3
Issuance of stock awards................................................................................... 362,034 — (29.5) — — — — — — (29.5)
SSARs exercised............................................................................................... 60,339 — (5.4) — — — — — — (5.4)
Stock compensation .......................................................................................... — — 26.1 — — — — — — 26.1
Distribution to noncontrolling interest.............................................................. — — — — — — — — (3.6) (3.6)
Sale of noncontrolling interests ........................................................................ — — — — — — — — (10.6) (10.6)

Purchases and retirement of common stock...................................................... (952,204) (0.1) (19.5) (115.4) — — — — — (135.0)
Defined benefit pension plans, net of taxes:
Prior service credit arising during year.......................................................... — — — — 10.0 — — 10.0 — 10.0
Net loss recognized due to settlement............................................................ — — — — 0.1 — — 0.1 — 0.1
Net loss recognized due to curtailment.......................................................... — — — — 6.3 — — 6.3 — 6.3
Net actuarial gain arising during year............................................................ — — — — 53.6 — — 53.6 — 53.6
Amortization of prior service cost included in net periodic pension cost...... — — — — 0.6 — — 0.6 — 0.6
Amortization of net actuarial losses included in net periodic pension cost... — — — — 12.3 — — 12.3 — 12.3
Deferred gains and losses on derivatives, net ................................................... — — — — — — 2.1 2.1 — 2.1
Change in cumulative translation adjustment ................................................... — — — — — (45.1) — (45.1) (0.4) (45.5)

Balance, December 31, 2021................................................................................. 74,441,312 0.7 3.9 5,182.2 (230.4) (1,540.1) (0.4) (1,770.9) 27.9 3,443.8
Net income (loss) .............................................................................................. — — — 889.6 — — — — (14.9) 874.7
Payment of dividends to shareholders .............................................................. — — — (404.3) — — — — — (404.3)
Issuance of non-employee director restricted stock.......................................... 10,301 — 1.5 — — — — — — 1.5
Issuance of stock awards................................................................................... 250,719 — (6.5) (12.9) — — — — — (19.4)
SSARs exercised............................................................................................... 12,307 — (1.2) — — — — — — (1.2)
Stock compensation .......................................................................................... — — 32.5 — — — — — — 32.5
Distributions to noncontrolling interest ............................................................ — — — — — — — — (13.8) (13.8)
Investment by noncontrolling interests............................................................. — — — — — — — — 0.1 0.1
Purchases and retirement of common stock...................................................... (113,824) — — — — — — — — —
Defined benefit pension plans, net of taxes:
Prior service credit arising during year.......................................................... — — — — (19.1) — — (19.1) — (19.1)
Net gain recognized due to settlement ........................................................... — — — — (0.4) — — (0.4) — (0.4)
Net actuarial gain arising during year............................................................ — — — — 12.3 — — 12.3 — 12.3
Amortization of net actuarial losses included in net periodic pension cost... — — — — 6.4 — — 6.4 — 6.4
Deferred gains and losses on derivatives, net ................................................... — — — — — — (0.5) (0.5) — (0.5)
Change in cumulative translation adjustment ................................................... — — — — — (30.9) — (30.9) 0.9 (30.0)

Balance, December 31, 2022................................................................................. 74,600,815 $ 0.7 $ 30.2 $ 5,654.6 $ (231.2) $ (1,571.0) $ (0.9) $ (1,803.1) $ 0.2 $ 3,882.6

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income................................................................................................................ $ 874.7 $ 901.5 $ 419.8
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation ......................................................................................................... 209.5 220.7 212.5
Impairment charges .............................................................................................. 36.0 — 20.0
Amortization of intangibles.................................................................................. 60.1 61.1 59.5
Stock compensation expense................................................................................ 34.0 27.4 37.6
uity in net earnings of affiliates, net of cash received ..................................... (40.8) (1.9) (43.7)

Deferred income tax (benefit) provision (58.0) (117.9) 3.4
ther..................................................................................................................... 16.2 20.5 (7.4)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from purchase of businesses:
Accounts and notes receivable, net.................................................................. (306.1) (207.7) (90.5)
Inventories, net ................................................................................................ (668.3) (762.6) 119.7
ther current and noncurrent assets ................................................................ 20.1 (268.0) (49.8)
Accounts payable............................................................................................. 322.1 292.2 (59.1)
Accrued expenses ............................................................................................ 282.7 241.2 185.3
ther current and noncurrent liabilities ........................................................... 56.0 253.7 89.2
otal adjustments .......................................................................................... (36.5) (241.3) 476.7
Net cash provided by operating activities ..................................................... 838.2 660.2 896.5

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and e uipment............................................................. (388.3) (269.8) (269.9)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and e uipment .............................................. 2.6 6.3 1.9
Purchase of businesses, net of cash ac uired............................................................ (111.3) (22.6) (2.8)
Sale of, distributions from (investments in) unconsolidated affiliates, net .............. 4.0 13.1 29.1
ther ......................................................................................................................... (3.8) (15.4) —

Net cash used in investing activities ............................................................. (496.8) (288.4) (241.7)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from indebtedness ..................................................................................... 410.5 2,497.6 1,195.6
Repayments of indebtedness..................................................................................... (377.5) (2,501.4) (1,045.6)
Purchases and retirement of common stock ............................................................. — (135.0) (55.0)
Payment of dividends to stockholders ...................................................................... (404.3) (358.5) (48.0)
Payment of minimum tax withholdings on stock compensation .............................. (20.6) (34.9) (19.8)
Payment of debt issuance costs................................................................................. (3.6) (3.8) (1.4)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests, net............................................................ (11.5) (3.5) (3.1)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities...................................... (407.0) (539.5) 22.7
ffect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash e uivalents and restricted cash.......... (34.0) (62.3) 8.8
(Decrease) increase in cash, cash e uivalents and restricted cash .............................. (99.6) (230.0) 686.3
Cash, cash e uivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year.................................... 889.1 1,119.1 432.8
Cash, cash e uivalents and restricted cash, end of year .............................................. $ 789.5 $ 889.1 $ 1,119.1

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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A C Corporation and subsidiaries ( A C or the Company ) is a leading manufacturer and distributor of
agricultural e uipment and related replacement parts throughout the world. he Company sells a full range of agricultural
e uipment, including tractors, combines, hay tools, sprayers, forage e uipment, seeding and tillage e uipment, implements,
and grain storage and protein production systems. he Company s products are widely recognized in the agricultural
e uipment industry and are marketed under a number of well-known brand names including Fendt , SI , assey Ferguson ,
Precision Planting and altra , supported by our F S precision agriculture solutions. he Company distributes most of its
products through a combination of approximately 3,100 independent dealers and distributors as well as the Company utilizes
associates and licensees to provide a distribution channel for its products. In addition, the Company provides retail financing
through its finance joint ventures with Co peratieve Rabobank .A., or Rabobank.

he Company s Consolidated Financial Statements represent the consolidation of all wholly-owned companies,
majority-owned companies and joint ventures in which the Company has been determined to be the primary beneficiary.
he Company consolidates a variable interest entity ( I ) if the Company determines it is the primary beneficiary.
he primary beneficiary of a I is the party that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the
entity s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that potentially could be
significant to the I . he Company also consolidates all entities that are not considered I s if it is determined that the
Company has a controlling voting interest to direct the activities that most significantly impact the joint venture or entity.
he Company records investments in all other affiliate companies using the e uity method of accounting when it has significant
influence. ther investments, including those representing an ownership interest of less than 20 , are recorded at cost.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

he preparation of financial statements in conformity with .S. generally accepted accounting principles ( AAP )
re uires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. he estimates made by management primarily
relate to accounts and notes receivable, inventories, deferred income tax valuation allowances, uncertain tax positions, goodwill
and other identifiable intangible assets, and certain accrued liabilities, principally relating to reserves for volume discounts and
sales incentives, warranty obligations, product liability and workers compensation obligations, recoverable indirect taxes and
pensions and postretirement benefits.

he Company cannot predict the ongoing impact of the C ID-19 pandemic due to volatility in global economic and
political environments, the cyclicality of market demand for its products, supply chain disruptions, possible workforce
unavailability, exchange rate and commodity and protein price volatility and availability of financing, and their impact to the
Company s net sales, production volumes, costs and overall financial condition and available funding.

he financial statements of the Company s foreign subsidiaries are translated into nited States currency in
accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ( ASC ) 830, Foreign Currency atters. Assets and liabilities are
translated to nited States dollars at period-end exchange rates. Income and expense items are translated at average rates of
exchange prevailing during the period. ranslation adjustments are included in Accumulated other comprehensive loss in
stockholders e uity within the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets. ains and losses, which result from foreign currency
transactions, are included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of perations. he Company changed the functional
currency of its wholly-owned subsidiary from the Argentinian peso to the .S. dollar effective uly 1, 2018.

he Company is subject to the risk of the imposition of limitations by governments on international transfers of funds.
For example, in recent years, the Argentine government has substantially limited the ability of companies to transfer funds out
of Argentina. As a conse uence of these limitations, the spread between the official government exchange rate and the
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exchange rates resulting implicitly from certain capital market operations, usually effected to obtain .S. dollars, has broadened
significantly. he net monetary assets of the Company s operations in Argentina denominated in pesos at the official
government rate were approximately 4.1 billion (or approximately $23.0 million) as of December 31, 2022, inclusive of
approximately 6.8 billion pesos (or approximately $38.1 million) in cash and cash e uivalents. In addition, the Company has an
obligation to reimburse A C Capital Argentina S.A., one of its finance joint ventures with Rabobank, up to $10 million under
a guarantee related to the ability of A C Capital Argentina S.A. to transfer funds out of Argentina. he finance joint venture
in Argentina has net monetary assets denominated in pesos at the official government rate of approximately 4.1 billion
(or approximately $22.9 million) as of December 31, 2022, of which a majority is cash and cash e uivalents. Future
impairments and charges are possible in connection with these exposures.

Cash and cash e uivalents reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 and
cash, cash e uivalents and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December
31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Cash(1) ................................................................................ $ 656.7 $ 833.0 $ 1,022.0
Cash e uivalents(2) ............................................................. 130.8 49.2 89.7
Restricted cash(3) ................................................................ 2.0 6.9 7.4
otal $ 789.5 $ 889.1 $ 1,119.1

(1) Consisted primarily of cash on hand and bank deposits.
(2) Consisted primarily of money market deposits, certificates of deposits and overnight investments. he Company considers all investments with an original
maturity of three months or less to be cash e uivalents.
(3) Consisted primarily of cash in escrow or held as guarantee to support specific re uirements.

Accounts and notes receivable arise from the sale of e uipment and replacement parts to independent dealers,
distributors or other customers. In the nited States and Canada, amounts due from sales to dealers are immediately due upon a
retail sale of the underlying e uipment by the dealer with the exception of sales of grain storage and protein production systems
as discussed further below. If not previously paid by the dealer in the nited States and Canada, installment payments are
re uired generally beginning after the interest-free period with the remaining outstanding e uipment balance generally due
within 12 months after shipment or delivery. hese interest-free periods vary by product and generally range from one to 12
months. In limited circumstances, the Company provides sales terms, and in some cases, interest-free periods that are longer
than 12 months for certain products. hese are typically specified programs predominately in the nited States and Canada, that
allow for interest-free periods and due dates of up to 24 months for certain products depending on the year of the sale and the
dealer or distributor s ordering or sales volume during the preceding year. Interest generally is charged at or above prime
lending rates on the outstanding receivable balances after shipment or delivery and after interest-free periods. Sales terms of
some highly seasonal products provide for payment and due dates based on a specified date during the year regardless of the
shipment date. uipment sold to dealers in the nited States and Canada is paid in full on average within 12 months of
shipment. Sales of replacement parts generally are payable within 30 days of shipment, with terms for some larger, seasonal
stock orders generally re uiring payment within six months of shipment. nder normal circumstances, e uipment may not be
returned. In certain regions, with respect to most e uipment sales, including the nited States and Canada, the Company is
obligated to repurchase e uipment and replacement parts upon cancellation of a dealer or distributor contract. hese obligations
are re uired by national, state or provincial laws and re uire the Company to repurchase a dealer or distributor s unsold
inventory, including inventories for which the receivable already has been paid. Actual interest-free periods are shorter than
described above because the e uipment receivable from dealers or distributors in some countries, such as in the nited States
and Canada, is generally due immediately upon sale of the e uipment to a retail customer as discussed above. Receivables can
also be paid prior to terms specified in sales agreements. nder normal circumstances, interest is not forgiven and interest-free
periods are not extended.

In other international markets, e uipment sales generally are payable in full within 30 days to 180 days of shipment or
delivery. Payment terms for some highly seasonal products have a specified due date during the year regardless of the shipment
or delivery date. For sales in most markets outside of the nited States and Canada, the Company generally does not charge
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interest on outstanding receivables with its dealers and distributors. Sales of replacement parts generally are payable within
30 days to 90 days of shipment, with terms for some larger, seasonal stock orders generally payable within six months of
shipment.

In certain markets, there is a time lag, which varies based on the timing and level of retail demand, between the date
the Company records a sale and when the dealer sells the e uipment to a retail customer.

Sales of grain storage and protein production systems both in the nited States and in other countries generally are
payable within 30 days of shipment. In certain countries, sales of such systems for which the Company is responsible for
construction or installation may be contingent upon customer acceptance. Payment terms vary by market and product, with
fixed payment schedules on all sales. hen the Company is responsible for installation services, fixed payment schedules may
include upfront deposits, progress payments and final payment upon customer acceptance.

he following summarizes by geographic region, as a percentage of the Company s consolidated net sales, amounts
with maximum interest-free periods as presented below (in millions):

0 to 6 months .................................... $ 2,519.6 $ 2,023.2 $ 6,444.6 $ 907.4 $11,894.8 94.0
7 to 12 months .................................. 650.9 96.6 2.7 — 750.2 5.9
13 to 24 months ................................ 4.6 1.8 — — 6.4 0.1

$ 3,175.1 $ 2,121.6 $ 6,447.3 $ 907.4 $12,651.4 100.0

he Company has an agreement to permit transferring, on an ongoing basis, a majority of its wholesale
interest-bearing and non-interest bearing accounts receivable in North America, urope and Brazil to its .S., Canadian,
uropean and Brazilian finance joint ventures. ualified dealers may obtain additional financing through the Company s .S.,
Canadian, uropean and Brazilian finance joint ventures at the joint ventures discretion.

he Company provides various volume bonus and sales incentive programs with respect to its products. hese sales
incentive programs include reductions in invoice prices, reductions in retail financing rates, dealer commissions and dealer
incentive allowances. In most cases, incentive programs are established and communicated to the Company s dealers on a
uarterly basis. he incentives are paid either at the time of the cash settlement of the receivable (which is generally at the time
of retail sale), at the time of retail financing, at the time of warranty registration, or at a subse uent time based on dealer
purchase volumes. he incentive programs are product-line specific and generally do not vary by dealer. he cost of sales
incentives associated with dealer commissions and dealer incentive allowances is estimated based upon the terms of the
programs and historical experience, is based on a percentage of the sales price, and estimates for sales incentives are made and
recorded at the time of sale for expected incentive programs using the expected value method. hese estimates are reassessed
each reporting period and are revised in the event of subse uent modifications to incentive programs, as they are communicated
to dealers. he related provisions and accruals are made on a product or product-line basis and are monitored for ade uacy and
revised at least uarterly in the event of subse uent modifications to the programs. Interest rate subsidy payments, which are a
reduction in retail finance rates, are recorded in the same manner as dealer commissions and dealer incentive allowances.
olume discounts are estimated and recognized based on historical experience, and related reserves are monitored and adjusted
based on actual dealer purchase volumes and the dealer s progress towards achieving specified cumulative target levels.
All incentive programs are recorded and presented as a reduction of revenue, due to the fact that the Company does not receive
a distinct good or service in exchange for the consideration provided. In the nited States and Canada, reserves for incentive
programs related to accounts receivable not sold to Company s .S. and Canadian finance joint ventures are recorded as
Accounts receivable allowances within the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets due to the fact that the incentives are
paid through a reduction of future cash settlement of the receivable. lobally, reserves for incentive programs that will be paid
in cash or credit memos, as is the case with most of the Company s volume discount programs, as well as sales with incentives
associated with accounts receivable sold to its finance joint ventures, are recorded within Accrued expenses within the
Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Accounts and notes receivable are shown net of allowances for sales incentive discounts available to dealers and for
doubtful accounts. Cash flows related to the collection of receivables are reported within Cash flows from operating activities
within the Company s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Accounts and notes receivable allowances at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Sales incentive discounts................................................................................................................. $ 7.6 $ 8.0
Doubtful accounts............................................................................................................................ 31.3 32.6

$ 38.9 $ 40.6

he Company accounts for its provision for doubtful accounts in accordance with Accounting Standards pdate
( AS ) 2016-13, easurement of Credit osses on Financial Instruments, ( AS 2016-13 ).

In the nited States and Canada, sales incentives can be paid through future cash settlements of receivables and
through credit memos to Company s dealers or through reductions in retail financing rates paid to the Company s finance joint
ventures. utside of the nited States and Canada, sales incentives can be paid through cash or credit memos to the Company s
dealers or through reductions in retail financing rates paid to the Company s finance joint ventures. he Company transfers
certain accounts receivable under its accounts receivable sales agreements with its finance joint ventures and other financial
institutions (see Note 4). he Company records such transfers as sales of accounts receivable when it is considered to have
surrendered control of such receivables under the provisions of AS 2009-16, ransfers and Servicing ( opic 860):
Accounting for ransfers of Financial Assets. Cash payments made to the Company s finance joint ventures for sales incentive
discounts provided to dealers related to outstanding accounts receivables sold are recorded within Accrued expenses.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out method. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal
and transportation. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had recorded $211.6 million and $202.6 million,
respectively, as an adjustment for surplus and obsolete inventories. hese adjustments are reflected within Inventories, net
within the Company s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Inventories, net at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Finished goods ............................................................................................................................ $ 994.9 $ 718.2
Repair and replacement parts...................................................................................................... 750.1 697.8
ork in process .......................................................................................................................... 369.8 282.8

Raw materials.............................................................................................................................. 1,074.9 894.9
Inventories, net............................................................................................................................ $ 3,189.7 $ 2,593.7

Cash flows related to the sale of inventories are reported within Cash flows from operating activities within the
Company s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

he Company s Brazilian operations incur value added taxes ( A ) on certain purchases of raw materials,
components and services. hese taxes are accumulated as tax credits and create assets that are reduced by the A collected
from the Company s sales in the Brazilian market. he Company regularly assesses the recoverability of these tax credits, and
establishes reserves when necessary against them, through analyses that include, amongst others, the history of realization, the
transfer of tax credits to third parties as authorized by the government, anticipated changes in the supply chain and the future
expectation of tax debits from the Company s ongoing operations. he Company believes that these tax credits, net of
established reserves, are realizable. he Company had recorded approximately $94.6 million and $114.4 million, respectively,
of A tax credits, net of reserves, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Property, plant and e uipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of two to 40 years for buildings and improvements, three to
20 years for machinery and e uipment and three to ten years for furniture and fixtures. xpenditures for maintenance and
repairs are primarily charged to expense as incurred.

Property, plant and e uipment, net at December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following (in millions):

and................................................................................................................................................. $ 141.1 $ 141.0
Buildings and improvements........................................................................................................... 920.7 875.9
achinery and e uipment ............................................................................................................... 2,789.8 2,702.3

Furniture and fixtures ...................................................................................................................... 182.8 171.1
ross property, plant and e uipment............................................................................................... 4,034.4 3,890.3
Accumulated depreciation and amortization ................................................................................... (2,443.2) (2,425.5)
Property, plant and e uipment, net.................................................................................................. $ 1,591.2 $ 1,464.8

he Company tests goodwill for impairment, at the reporting unit level, annually and when events or circumstances
indicate that fair value of a reporting unit may be below its carrying value. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level
below an operating segment, for example, a component. he Company combines and aggregates two or more components of an
operating segment as a single reporting unit if the components have similar economic characteristics. he Company s
reportable segments are not its reporting units.

oodwill is evaluated annually as of ctober 1st for impairment using a ualitative assessment or a uantitative
one-step assessment. If the Company elects to perform a ualitative assessment and determines the fair value of its reporting
units more likely than not exceed the carrying value of their net assets, no further evaluation is necessary. For reporting units
where the Company performs a one-step uantitative assessment, the Company compares the fair value of each reporting unit,
which is determined based on a combination of a discounted cash flow valuation approach and a market multiple valuation
approach, to its respective carrying value of net assets, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value of net assets, the goodwill is not considered impaired. If the carrying value of net assets is higher than the fair
value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge is recorded in the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the reporting
unit s fair value in accordance with AS 2017-04.

he Company reviews its long-lived assets, which include intangible assets subject to amortization, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
he evaluation for recoverability is performed at a level where independent cash flows may be attributed to either an asset or
asset group. If the Company determines that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group is not recoverable based on the
expected undiscounted future cash flows of the asset or asset group, an impairment loss is recorded e ual to the excess of the
carrying amounts over the estimated fair value of the long-lived assets. stimates of future cash flows are based on many
factors, including current operating results, expected market trends and competitive influences. he Company also evaluates the
amortization periods assigned to its intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances warrant revised
estimates of useful lives. Assets to be disposed of by sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less
estimated costs to sell.

he results of our goodwill and long-lived assets impairment analyses conducted as of ctober 1, 2022, 2021 and 2020
indicated that no indicators of impairment existed and no reduction in the carrying amount of goodwill and long-lived assets
was re uired.

he C ID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted the global economy as a whole since its inception. Based on
macroeconomic conditions throughout 2020, the Company assessed its goodwill and other intangible assets for indications of
impairment, and as of une 30, 2020, the Company concluded there were indicators of impairment during the three months
ended une 30, 2020 related to one of its smaller reporting units, which was a 50 -owned tillage and seeding e uipment joint
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venture. As a result, the entire goodwill balance of this reporting unit was impaired, and during the three months ended
une 30, 2020, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of approximately $20.0 million as Impairment charges
within the Company s Consolidated Statements of perations, with an offsetting benefit of approximately $10.0 million
included within Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests. During the three months ended une 30, 2021, the
Company sold its 50 interest in the joint venture.

he Company s accumulated goodwill impairment is approximately $354.1 million related to impairment charges the
Company recorded during 2019, 2012 and 2006 pertaining to its grain storage and protein production systems business in
urope iddle ast, its Chinese harvesting reporting unit and its former sprayer reporting unit, respectively. he Company s
grain storage and protein production systems urope iddle ast reporting unit operates within the urope iddle ast
geographical reportable segment. he Chinese harvesting business operates within the Asia Pacific Africa geographical
reportable segment and the former sprayer reporting unit operates within the North American geographical reportable segment.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are
summarized as follows (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2019..................... $ 606.0 $ 112.2 $ 463.3 $ 116.8 $ 1,298.3
Ac uisitions ...................................................... 7.2 — — — 7.2
Impairment charge ............................................ (20.0) — — — (20.0)
Foreign currency translation ............................. 0.2 (24.7) 38.0 7.5 21.0
Balance as of December 31, 2020..................... 593.4 87.5 501.3 124.3 1,306.5
Ac uisition........................................................ 16.2 — 0.6 — 16.8
Foreign currency translation ............................. — (5.8) (32.4) (4.3) (42.5)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 ..................... 609.6 81.7 469.5 120.0 1,280.8
Ac uisitions ...................................................... 59.8 — — — 59.8
Foreign currency translation ............................. (2.1) 4.3 (25.2) (6.8) (29.8)
Balance as of December 31, 2022..................... $ 667.3 $ 86.0 $ 444.3 $ 113.2 $ 1,310.8

he Company amortizes certain ac uired identifiable intangible assets primarily on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which range from four to 50 years. xternal-use software, which is or will be marketed for sale, was
approximately $3.4 million as of December 31, 2022 and classified within Intangible assets, net. Amortization of external-use
software has not started as the product is still being developed. he ac uired intangible assets have a weighted average useful
life as follows:

Patents and technology ................................................................................................................................. 11 years
Customer relationships ................................................................................................................................. 13 years
rademarks and trade names ........................................................................................................................ 19 years
and use rights.............................................................................................................................................. 46 years

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, ac uired intangible asset amortization was $60.1 million,
$60.9 million and $59.5 million, respectively. he Company estimates amortization of existing intangible assets will be
$56.3 million in 2023, $55.1 million in 2024, $51.2 million in 2025, $22.8 million in 2026, and $18.7 million in 2027.

he Company has previously determined that two of its trademarks have an indefinite useful life. he assey
Ferguson trademark has been in existence since 1952 and was formed from the merger of assey- arris (established in the
1890 s) and Ferguson (established in the 1930 s). he assey Ferguson brand is currently sold in approximately 110 countries
worldwide, making it one of the most widely sold tractor brands in the world. he Company also has identified the altra
trademark as an indefinite-lived asset. he altra trademark has been in existence since the late 1990 s, but is a derivative of
the almet trademark which has been in existence since 1951. he almet name transitioned to the altra name over a period
of time in the marketplace. he altra brand is currently sold in approximately 60 countries around the world. Both the assey
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Ferguson brand and the Valtra brand are primary product lines of the Company’s business, and the Company plans to use these
trademarks for an indefinite period of time. The Company plans to continue to make investments in product development to
enhance the value of these brands into the future. There are no legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other
factors that the Company is aware of or that the Company believes would limit the useful lives of the trademarks. The Massey
Ferguson and Valtra trademark registrations can be renewed at a nominal cost in the countries in which the Company operates.

Changes in the carrying amount of acquired intangible assets during 2022 and 2021 are summarized as follows
(in millions):

Gross Carrying Amounts

Trademarks
and

Trade Names
Customer

Relationships
Patents and
Technology

Land Use
Rights Total

Gross carrying amounts:
Balance as of December 31, 2020.............. $ 195.1 $ 580.6 $ 157.2 $ 6.8 $ 939.7
Acquisitions................................................ 0.7 3.2 6.1 — 10.0
Sale of business .......................................... (1.3) (4.4) (17.1) — (22.8)
Foreign currency translation....................... (5.5) (10.8) (6.3) 0.2 (22.4)
Balance as of December 31, 2021.............. 189.0 568.6 139.9 7.0 904.5
Acquisitions................................................ 7.1 15.4 15.4 — 37.9
Foreign currency translation....................... (4.3) (9.5) (4.7) (0.5) (19.0)
Balance as of December 31, 2022.............. $ 191.8 $ 574.5 $ 150.6 $ 6.5 $ 923.4

Accumulated Amortization

Trademarks
and

Trade Names
Customer

Relationships
Patents and
Technology

Land Use
Rights Total

Accumulated amortization:
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ............... $ 85.3 $ 384.7 $ 102.4 $ 1.1 $ 573.5
Amortization expense.................................. 10.8 37.4 12.5 0.2 60.9
Sale of business ........................................... (1.3) (4.4) (15.2) — (20.9)
Foreign currency translation........................ (1.7) (8.0) (5.0) 0.2 (14.5)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 ............... 93.1 409.7 94.7 1.5 599.0
Amortization expense.................................. 11.7 37.9 10.4 0.1 60.1
Foreign currency translation........................ (1.5) (6.8) (3.6) — (11.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 ............... $ 103.3 $ 440.8 $ 101.5 $ 1.6 $ 647.2

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Trademarks
and

Trade Names
Balance as of December 31, 2020 ......................................................................................................................... $ 89.4
Foreign currency translation .................................................................................................................................. (2.7)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 ......................................................................................................................... 86.7
Foreign currency translation .................................................................................................................................. (1.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 ......................................................................................................................... $ 84.8

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company acquired approximately $2.0 million and
$16.3 million, respectively, of functional intellectual property licenses associated with various component technology related to
the Company’s products. The Company is amortizing these licenses over a period of five years, and recorded amortization
expense of approximately $3.0 million during 2022 within “Engineering expenses” and $0.2 million during 2021 within
“Amortization of intangibles” in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations, resulting in a remaining unamortized
amount of approximately $15.1 million as of December 31, 2022, reflected within “Other assets” in the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

AGCO CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
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Accrued expenses at December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following (in millions):

Reserve for volume discounts and sales incentives..................................................................... $ 630.8 $ 602.3
arranty reserves........................................................................................................................ 546.0 492.7

Accrued employee compensation and benefits ........................................................................... 390.2 322.3
Accrued taxes .............................................................................................................................. 344.8 282.5
Other............................................................................................................................................ 359.5 362.4
Balance at the end of the year ..................................................................................................... $ 2,271.3 $ 2,062.2

The warranty reserve activity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following
(in millions):

Balance at beginning of the year ..................................................................... $ 592.5 $ 521.8 $ 392.8
Acquisitions ..................................................................................................... — — 0.2
Accruals for warranties issued during the year................................................ 338.8 344.9 310.2
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during the year .................................... (261.7) (241.8) (204.3)
Foreign currency translation ............................................................................ (29.6) (32.4) 22.9
Balance at the end of the year.......................................................................... $ 640.0 $ 592.5 $ 521.8

The Company’s agricultural equipment products generally are under warranty against defects in materials and
workmanship for a period of one to four years. The Company accrues for future warranty costs at the time of sale based on
historical warranty experience. Approximately $94.0 million and $99.8 million of warranty reserves are included in “Other
noncurrent liabilities” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company recognizes recoveries of the costs associated with warranties it provides when the collection is probable.
hen specifics of the recovery have been agreed upon with the Company’s suppliers through confirmation of liability for the

recovery, the Company records the recovery within “Accounts and notes receivable, net.” Estimates of the amount of warranty
claim recoveries to be received from the Company’s suppliers based upon contractual supplier arrangements are recorded
within “Other current assets.”

nder the Company’s insurance programs, coverage is obtained for significant liability limits as well as those risks
required to be insured by law or contract. It is the policy of the Company to self-insure a portion of certain expected losses
primarily related to workers’ compensation and comprehensive general liability, product and vehicle liability. Provisions for
losses expected under these programs are recorded based on the Company’s estimates of the aggregate liabilities for the claims
incurred.

The Company accounts for revenue recognition pursuant to AS 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”
Revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies the performance obligation by transferring control over goods or services to
a dealer, distributor or other customer. The amount of revenue recognized is measured as the consideration the Company
expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services pursuant to a contract with the customer. A contract exists once the
Company receives and accepts a purchase order under a dealer sales agreement, or once the Company enters into a contract
with an end user. The Company does not recognize revenue in cases where collectability is not probable, and defers the
recognition until collection is probable or payment is received.
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The Company generates revenue from the manufacture and distribution of agricultural equipment and replacement
parts. Sales of equipment and replacement parts, which represents a majority of the Company’s net sales, are recorded by the
Company at the point in time when title and control have been transferred to an independent dealer, distributor or other
customer. Title generally passes to the dealer or distributor upon shipment or specified delivery, and the risk of loss upon
damage, theft or destruction of the equipment is the responsibility of the dealer, distributor or designated third-party carrier.
The Company believes control passes and the performance obligation is satisfied at the point of the stated shipping or delivery
term with respect to such sales.

As previously discussed, the amount of consideration the Company receives and the revenue recognized varies with
certain sales incentives the Company offers to dealers and distributors. Estimates for sales incentives are made at the time of
sale for expected incentive programs using the expected value method. These estimates are revised in the event of subsequent
modification to the incentive program. All incentive programs are recorded and presented as a reduction of revenue, due to the
fact that the Company does not receive a distinct good or service in exchange for the consideration provided.

Dealers or distributors may not return equipment or replacement parts while their contract with the Company is in
force, except for under established promotional and annual replacement parts return programs. At the time of sale, the Company
estimates the amount of returns based on the terms of promotional and annual return programs and anticipated returns in the
future.

Sales and other related taxes are excluded from the transaction price. Shipping and handling costs associated with
freight activities after the customer has obtained control are accounted for as fulfillment costs and are expensed and accrued at
the time revenue is recognized in “Cost of goods sold” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As afforded under the practical expedient in AS 2014-09, the Company does not adjust the amount of revenue to be
recognized under a contract with a dealer, distributor or other customer for the time value of money when the difference
between the receipt of payment and the recognition of revenue is less than one year.

Although, substantially all revenue is recognized at a point in time, a relatively insignificant amount of installation
revenue associated with the sale of grain storage and protein production systems is recognized on an “over time” basis as
discussed below. The Company also recognizes revenue “over time” with respect to extended warranty and maintenance
contracts and certain precision technology services. Generally, almost all of the grain storage and protein production systems
contracts with customers that relate to “over time” revenue recognition have contract durations of less than 12 months.
Extended warranty, maintenance services contracts and certain precision technology services generally have contract durations
of more than 12 months.

In certain countries, the Company sells grain
storage and protein production systems where the Company is responsible for construction and installation, and the sale is
contingent upon customer acceptance. nder these conditions, the revenues are recognized over the term of the contract when
the Company can objectively determine control has been transferred to the customer in accordance with agreed-upon
specifications in the contract. For these contracts, the Company may be entitled to receive an advance payment, which is
recognized as a contract liability for the amount in excess of the revenue recognized. The Company uses the input method using
costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure the progress toward satisfaction of the
performance obligation. Revenues are recorded proportionally as costs are incurred. Costs include labor, material and overhead.
The estimation of the progress toward completion is subject to various assumptions. As part of the estimation process, the
Company reviews the length of time to complete the performance obligation, the cost of materials and labor productivity.
If a significant change in one of the assumptions occurs, then the Company will recognize an adjustment under the cumulative
catch-up method and the impact of the adjustment on the revenue recorded to date is recognized in the period the adjustment
is identified.

The Company sells separately priced extended warranty contracts and maintenance
contracts, which extends coverage beyond the base warranty period, or covers maintenance over a specified period. Revenue is
recognized for the extended warranty contract on a straight-line basis, which the Company believes approximates the costs
expected to be incurred in satisfying the obligations, over the extended warranty period. The extended warranty period ranges
from one to five years. Payment is received or revenue is deferred for free contracts at the inception of the extended warranty
contract or maintenance contract, which is recognized as a contract liability for the amount in excess of the revenue recognized.
The revenue associated with the sale of extended warranty contracts is not significant.
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The Company sells a combination of precision technology products and
services. hen the bundled package of technology products and services is sold, the portion of the consideration received
related to the services component is recognized over time as the Company satisfies the future performance obligation. Revenue
is recognized for the hardware component when control is transferred to the dealer or distributor. Payment is received or
revenue is deferred for free subscriptions at inception of the precision technology subscription period, which is recognized as a
contract liability for the amount in excess of the revenue recognized. The revenue associated with the sale of precision
technology services is not significant. The costs of the software directly associated with the installation and functionality of
precision technology products and services, including amortization and hosting costs, are reflected within “Cost of goods sold”
and “Engineering expenses” within the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

See Note 16 for additional information regarding the Company’s sources of revenue and associated contract liabilities
and performance obligations.

Stock compensation expense was recorded as follows (in millions). Refer to Note 10 for additional information
regarding the Company’s stock incentive plans during 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Cost of goods sold ............................................................................................................. $ 1.3 $ 1.0 $ 1.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses .................................................................... 32.7 26.6 36.8
Total stock compensation expense .................................................................................... $ 34.0 $ 27.6 $ 37.9

The Company recognizes the effect of award forfeitures as an adjustment to stock compensation expense in the period
in which the forfeiture occurs.

Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred and are included in “Engineering expenses” in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Cooperative advertising costs normally are expensed at the
time the revenue is earned. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 totaled approximately
$50.9 million, $54.2 million and $45.3 million, respectively.

All shipping and handling fees charged to customers are included as a component of net sales, and are associated with
freight activities after the customer has obtained control. Shipping and handling costs are accounted for as fulfillment costs and
are expensed and accrued at the time revenue is recognized within “Cost of goods sold,” with the exception of certain handling
costs included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the amount of $48.4 million, $43.6 million and
$38.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Interest expense, net for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following (in millions):

Interest expense ................................................................................................................. $ 46.0 $ 25.4 $ 24.9
Interest income .................................................................................................................. (33.0) (18.7) (9.9)

$ 13.0 $ 6.7 $ 15.0

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. See Note 6 for additional information regarding the Company’s income
taxes.

Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net income per common share assumes the exercise of outstanding stock-settled
stock appreciation rights (“SSARs”) and the vesting of performance share awards and restricted stock units using the treasury
stock method when the effects of such assumptions are dilutive.

A reconciliation of net income attributable to AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries and weighted average common
shares outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and diluted net income per share during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in millions, except per share data):

Basic net income per share:
Net income attributable to AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries...................................... $ 889.6 $ 897.0 $ 427.1
eighted average number of common shares outstanding............................................... 74.6 75.2 75.0

Basic net income per share attributable to AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries ............. $ 11.92 $ 11.93 $ 5.69
Diluted net income per share:
Net income attributable to AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries ................................... $ 889.6 $ 897.0 $ 427.1
eighted average number of common shares outstanding ............................................ 74.6 75.2 75.0

Dilutive SSARs, performance share awards and restricted stock units.......................... 0.3 0.5 0.6
eighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents
outstanding for purposes of computing diluted net income per share ........................ 74.9 75.7 75.6

Diluted net income per share attributable to AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries .......... $ 11.87 $ 11.85 $ 5.65
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The Company reports comprehensive income (loss), defined as the total of net income (loss) and all other non-owner
changes in equity, and the components thereof in its Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income. The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and the related tax effects for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in millions):

Defined benefit pension plans.......................................................... $ (2.0) $ 1.2 $ (0.8) $ —
Net loss on derivatives .................................................................... (0.5) — (0.5) —
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................................ (30.9) — (30.9) 0.9
Total components of other comprehensive income ......................... $ (33.4) $ 1.2 $ (32.2) $ 0.9

Defined benefit pension plans.......................................................... $ 110.1 $ (27.2) $ 82.9 $ —
Net gain on derivatives ................................................................... 2.5 (0.4) 2.1 —
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................................ (45.1) — (45.1) (0.4)
Total components of other comprehensive income ......................... $ 67.5 $ (27.6) $ 39.9 $ (0.4)

Defined benefit pension plans.......................................................... $ (19.3) $ 2.4 $ (16.9) $ —
Net loss on derivatives .................................................................... (1.5) 0.3 (1.2) —
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................................ (197.5) — (197.5) (4.3)
Total components of other comprehensive loss............................... $ (218.3) $ 2.7 $ (215.6) $ (4.3)

The Company uses foreign currency contracts to hedge the foreign currency exposure of certain receivables and
payables. The contracts are for periods consistent with the exposure being hedged and generally have maturities of one year or
less. These contracts are classified as non-designated derivative instruments. The Company also enters into foreign currency
contracts designated as cash flow hedges of expected sales. The Company’s foreign currency contracts mitigate risk due to
exchange rate fluctuations because gains and losses on these contracts generally offset losses and gains on the exposure being
hedged. The notional amounts of the foreign currency contracts do not represent amounts exchanged by the parties and,
therefore, are not a measure of the Company’s risk. The amounts exchanged are calculated on the basis of the notional amounts
and other terms of the contracts. The credit and market risks under these contracts are not considered to be significant.

The Company’s interest expense is, in part, sensitive to the general level of interest rates, and the Company manages
its exposure to interest rate risk through the mix of floating rate and fixed rate debt. From time to time, the Company enters into
interest rate swap agreements in order to manage the Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

The Company uses non-derivative and, periodically, derivative instruments to hedge a portion of the Company’s net
investment in foreign operations against adverse movements in exchange rates.
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The Company’s gross profit is sensitive to the cost of steel and other raw materials. From time to time, the Company
enters into derivative instruments to hedge a portion of its commodity purchases against adverse movements in commodity
prices.

The Company’s hedging policy prohibits it from entering into any foreign currency contracts for speculative trading
purposes. See Note 11 for additional information regarding the Company’s derivative instruments and hedging activities.

In November 2021, the FASB issued AS 2021-10, “Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosure by Business
Entities about Government Assistance,” which improves the transparency of government assistance received by most business
entities by requiring the disclosure of: (1) the types of government assistance received (2) the accounting for such assistance
and (3) the effect of the assistance on a business entity’s financial statements. This guidance was effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Company receives government assistance generally in the
form of research and development grants and employee payroll assistance, among others. The Company’s policy is to account
for government assistance using guidance analogous to government grants found in International Accounting Standards (“IAS”)
20, . The Company has adopted this guidance and
the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows and was
deemed not material for annual disclosure as of December 31, 2022.

In une 2016, the FASB issued AS 2016-13 “Financial Instruments - Credit osses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
osses on Financial Instruments,” which requires measurement and recognition of expected versus incurred credit losses for
financial assets. In November 2019, the FASB issued AS 2019-10, “Financial Instruments - Credit osses (Topic 326),
Derivatives and edging (Topic 815), and eases (Topic 842): Effective Dates,” which delays the effective date of AS
2016-13 for smaller reporting companies and other non-SEC reporting entities. This applies to the Company’s equity method
finance joint ventures, which are now required to adopt AS 2016-13 for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022
and interim periods within those annual periods. The standard, and its subsequent modification, impacts the results of
operations and financial condition of the Company’s finance joint ventures. As such, adoption of the standard by the
Company’s finance joint ventures on anuary 1, 2023 impacted the Company’s “Investments in affiliates” and “Retained
earnings” by an immaterial amount.

In September 2022, the FASB issued AS 2022-04, “ iabilities-Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure
of Supplier Finance Program Obligations.” The new standard requires that a buyer in a supplier finance program disclose
sufficient information about the key terms of the program, the amount of outstanding confirmed obligations at period end,
where the obligations are presented in the balance sheet, and a rollforward of the obligations during the annual period. This
guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal
years, except for the rollforward, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of AS 2022-04 will result in disclosure of the Company’s supplier financing programs.

The Company has adopted AS 2021-08, “Business Combinations: Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract
iabilities from Contracts with Customers,” effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, which did not have a
material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition or cash flows but is dependent on future
acquisitions.

On May 2, 2022, the Company acquired CA Industries, Inc. (“ CA”) for 63.0 million Canadian dollars
(or approximately $49.2 million as of May 2, 2022). CA is located in innipeg, Manitoba, Canada, and specializes in the
design of electronic systems and software development to automate and control agricultural equipment. The Company recorded
approximately 43.9 million Canadian dollars (or approximately $34.0 million) of goodwill associated with the acquisition.
The associated goodwill has been included in the Company’s North America geographical reportable segment.

On anuary 1, 2022 the Company acquired Appareo Systems, C (“Appareo”) for approximately $62.1 million, net
of approximately $0.5 million of cash. As a result of the acquisition of the remaining 50 interest in IAS, the Company’s
previous operating joint venture with Appareo, the Company recorded a gain of approximately $3.4 million on the
remeasurement of the previously held equity interest within “Other expense, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
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Operations. The fair value of the previously held 50 interest in the joint venture as of the acquisition date was approximately
$11.2 million. Appareo is headquartered in Fargo, North Dakota and offers engineering, manufacturing, and technology for
end-to-end product development. The Company recorded approximately $25.8 million of goodwill associated with the
acquisition. The associated goodwill has been included in the Company’s North America geographical reportable segment.

The acquired identifiable intangible assets of CA and Appareo as of the date of their respective acquisitions during
2022 are summarized in the following table (in millions):

Customer relationships.................................................................................. $ 15.4 10 years
Technology.................................................................................................... 15.4 8 years
Trademarks.................................................................................................... 5.7 10 years
Non-competition agreements ........................................................................ 1.4 5 years

$ 37.9

On December 1, 2021, the Company acquired Creatives Sites Media, Inc. (“CSM”) for approximately $5.7 million.
CSM is headquartered in Bloomington, Illinois and creates and designs customized mobile-enabled technology applications and
websites. The acquired net assets were insignificant. The Company recorded approximately $5.7 million of goodwill associated
with the acquisition. The associated goodwill was included in the Company’s North American geographical reportable segment.

On September 10, 2021, the Company acquired Farm Robotics and Automation S. . (“Faromatics”) for approximately
4.6 million (or approximately $5.5 million) net of approximately 0.1 million (or approximately $0.1 million) of cash and
0.8 million (or approximately $0.9 million) of escrowed cash which could be payable by the Company within 18 months of the
acquisition date. Faromatics is headquartered in Barcelona, Spain, and manufactures and sells ChickenBoy , the world’s first
ceiling-suspended robot that monitors broiler chickens and helps farmers increase animal welfare and farm productivity.
The Company recorded approximately 4.4 million (or approximately $5.2 million) of technology and approximately
1.8 million (or approximately $2.2 million) of goodwill associated with the acquisition. The associated goodwill was included
in the Company’s North American and Europe Middle East geographical reportable segments.

On August 13, 2021, the Company acquired eadsight, C (“ eadsight”) for approximately $16.8 million.
eadsight is headquartered in Bremen, Indiana and manufactures header height sensors used in corn and grain harvesting
operations. The Company recorded approximately $4.8 million of customer relationship, technology and trademark identifiable
intangible assets and approximately $8.9 million of goodwill associated with the acquisition. The associated goodwill was
included in the Company’s North American geographical reportable segment.

The acquired identifiable intangible assets of eadsight and Faromatics as of the date of their respective acquisitions
during 2021 are summarized in the following table (in millions):

Customer relationships.................................................................................. $ 3.2 7 years
Technology.................................................................................................... 6.1 10 - 15 years
Trademarks.................................................................................................... 0.7 7 years

$ 10.0

On September 10, 2020, the Company acquired 151 Research, Inc. for approximately $2.8 million. 151 Research
develops intelligent security, remote monitoring and management and enhanced imaging solutions for grain storage operations.
The acquired net assets were insignificant. The Company recorded goodwill of approximately $7.2 million associated with the
acquisition. In addition, the Company agreed to further contingent consideration related to the acquisition and recorded a
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liability of approximately $4.4 million to reflect estimated achievement of agreed-upon targets as of the acquisition date.

The Company allocated the purchase price of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of the CA, Appareo, CSM,
Faromatics and eadsight acquisitions based on estimates of their fair values of their respective acquisition dates. The acquired
net assets related to these acquisitions generally consisted of accounts receivable, inventories, other current and noncurrent
assets, lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, property, plant and equipment, assets held for sale, identifiable intangibles assets,
goodwill, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current and noncurrent liabilities and deferred tax assets and liabilities.
The results of operations of the acquisitions have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of and
from the date of acquisition. Proforma financial information related to these acquisitions was not material to the Company’s
results of operations.

The Company has announced and initiated actions over the course of several years to rationalize employee headcount
at various manufacturing facilities and various administrative offices located in Europe, South America, Africa, China and the
nited States, as well as the rationalization of its grain storage and protein production system operations. These rationalizations
were taken to reduce costs in response to fluctuating global market demand. During 2022, the Company recorded severance and
related costs associated with these rationalizations in connection with the termination of approximately 105 employees.

The components of the restructuring expenses are summarized as follows (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 4.8 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 4.8
2020 provision ............................. 11.3 4.5 2.5 1.8 — 20.1
ess: Non-cash expense ............ — — (2.5) — — (2.5)
Cash expense ........................... 11.3 4.5 — 1.8 — 17.6

2020 provision reversal................ (0.4) — — — — (0.4)
2020 cash activity ........................ (4.5) (0.6) — — — (5.1)
Foreign currency translation ........ (0.1) — — — — (0.1)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 11.1 3.9 — 1.8 — 16.8
2021 provision ............................. 18.4 — 0.2 1.5 — 20.1
ess: Non-cash expense ............ — — (0.2) — — (0.2)
Cash expense ........................... 18.4 — — 1.5 — 19.9

2021 provision reversal................ (2.2) — — (0.1) (2.5) (4.8)
2021 cash activity ........................ (12.3) (3.9) — (2.9) 2.5 (16.6)
Foreign currency translation ........ (0.5) — — (0.1) — (0.6)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 14.5 — — 0.2 — 14.7
2022 provision ............................. 6.9 — — — — 6.9
2022 provision reversal................ (0.8) — — — — (0.8)
2022 cash activity ........................ (12.6) — — (0.2) — (12.8)
Foreign currency translation ........ (1.2) — — — — (1.2)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 6.8 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 6.8
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During the three months ended December 31, 2019, the Company exited and sold its 50 interest in its SC, C
joint venture to its joint venture partner for approximately $5.1 million. The operations of the joint venture were part of the
Company’s grain storage and production system operations, and the decision to sell the joint venture was as a result of the
overall rationalization of the business. The Company recorded a loss of approximately $2.1 million associated with the sale,
which was reflected within “Restructuring expenses” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a result of
the final payments received from the former joint venture partner related to the sale during 2021 the Company recorded a gain
of approximately $2.5 million, also reflected within “Restructuring expenses” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

In light of the conflict between Russia and kraine, during the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company
assessed the fair value of its gross assets related to the joint ventures operating in Russia for potential impairment and recorded
asset impairment charges of approximately $36.0 million, reflected as “Impairment charges” in its Consolidated Statements of
Operations, with an offsetting benefit of approximately $12.2 million included within “Net loss (income) attributable to
noncontrolling interests.” The Company sold its interest in its Russian distribution joint venture during the three months ended
December 31, 2022. Foreign currency translation impacts since inception of the Russian joint venture previously recognized
within “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” were therefore recorded within “Other expense, net” on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations during the three months ended December 31, 2022. In addition, during the three months
ended March 31, 2022, the Company recorded a write-down of its investment in its Russian finance joint venture of
approximately $4.8 million, reflected within “Equity in net earnings of affiliates” in its Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The Russian finance joint venture was sold during the three months ended December 31, 2022.
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The Company has accounts receivable sales agreements that permit the sale, on an ongoing basis, of a majority of
its wholesale receivables in North America, Europe and Brazil to its .S., Canadian, European and Brazilian finance joint
ventures. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the cash received from receivables sold under the .S., Canadian, European
and Brazilian accounts receivable sales agreements was approximately $1.8 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively.

nder the terms of the accounts receivable sales agreements in North America, Europe and Brazil, the Company pays
an annual fee related to the servicing of the receivables sold. The Company also pays the respective AGCO Finance entities a
subsidized interest payment with respect to the accounts receivable sales agreements, calculated based upon the interest rate
charged by Rabobank to its affiliate, and such affiliate then lends to the AGCO Finance entities plus an agreed-upon margin.
These fees are reflected within losses on the sales of receivables included within “Other expense, net” in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not service the receivables after the sale occurs and does not
maintain any direct retained interest in the receivables. The Company reviewed its accounting for the accounts receivable sales
agreements and determined that these facilities should be accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions.

In addition, the Company sells certain trade receivables under factoring arrangements to other financial institutions
around the world. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the cash received from these arrangements was approximately
$226.0 million and $215.4 million, respectively.

osses on sales of receivables associated with the accounts receivable financing facilities discussed above, reflected
within “Other expense, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, were approximately $71.1 million,
$24.5 million and $24.1 million during 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company’s finance joint ventures in Europe, Brazil and Australia also provide wholesale financing directly to the
Company’s dealers. The receivables associated with these arrangements are without recourse to the Company. The Company
does not service the receivables after the sale occurs and does not maintain any direct retained interest in the receivables.
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, these finance joint ventures had approximately $69.5 million and $42.6 million,
respectively, of outstanding accounts receivable associated with these arrangements. The Company reviewed its accounting for
these arrangements and determined that these arrangements should be accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions.

In certain foreign countries, the Company invoices its finance joint ventures directly and the finance joint ventures
retain a form of title to the goods delivered to dealers until the dealer makes payment so that the finance joint ventures can
recover the goods in the event of dealer or end customer default on payment. This occurs as the laws of some foreign countries
do not provide for a seller’s retention of a security interest in goods in the same manner as established in the nited States
niform Commercial Code. The only right the finance joint ventures retain with respect to the title are those enabling recovery
of the goods in the event of customer default on payment. The dealer or distributor may not return equipment or replacement
parts to the Company while its contract with the finance joint venture is in force, and can only return the equipment to the retail
finance joint venture with penalties that would generally not make it economically beneficial to do so.

Investments in affiliates as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Finance joint ventures ......................................................................................................... $ 390.2 $ 359.2
Manufacturing joint ventures.............................................................................................. 29.9 31.0
Other affiliates .................................................................................................................... 16.8 23.3

$ 436.9 $ 413.5

The Company’s finance joint ventures provide retail financing and wholesale financing to its dealers. The majority of
the assets of the Company’s finance joint ventures represent finance receivables. The majority of the liabilities represent notes
payable and accrued interest. nder the various joint venture agreements, Rabobank or its affiliates provide financing to the
joint venture companies. AGCO has a 49 interest in the Company’s finance joint ventures (Note 14).
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The Company’s manufacturing joint ventures consist of Groupement International De Mecanique Agricole SA
(“GIMA”) (a joint venture with a third-party manufacturer to purchase, design and manufacture components for agricultural
equipment in France) and a joint venture with a third-party manufacturer to manufacture protein production equipment in
China. The other joint ventures represent investments in farm equipment manufacturers, an electronic and software system
manufacturer, precision agriculture technology providers, distributors and licensees.

The Company’s equity in net earnings of affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as
follows (in millions):

Finance joint ventures ......................................................................... $ 63.0 $ 64.4 $ 45.0
Manufacturing and other joint ventures .............................................. 1.1 1.2 0.5

$ 64.1 $ 65.6 $ 45.5

Summarized combined financial information of the Company’s finance joint ventures as of December 31, 2022 and
2021 and for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows (in millions):

Total assets.......................................................................................................................... $ 8,359.1 $ 7,863.6
Total liabilities .................................................................................................................... 7,562.8 7,130.5
Partners’ equity ................................................................................................................... 796.3 733.1

Revenues ............................................................................................. $ 454.6 $ 411.1 $ 402.2
Costs .................................................................................................... 274.9 228.1 274.0
Income before income taxes................................................................ $ 179.7 $ 183.0 $ 128.2

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s receivables from affiliates were approximately $60.8 million and
$55.1 million, respectively. The receivables from affiliates are reflected within “Accounts and notes receivable, net” within the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The portion of the Company’s retained earnings balance that represents undistributed retained earnings of equity
method investees was approximately $401.9 million and $365.6 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The Company received dividends from certain finance joint ventures of approximately $27.0 million and $84.4 million during
2022 and 2021, respectively. Approximately $5.7 million and $22.7 million of these dividends were a return of investment in
excess of earnings related to a certain finance joint venture during 2022 and 2021, respectively, and were included within “Sale
of, distributions from (investments in) unconsolidated affiliates, net” within the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a write-down of the investment in its
Russian finance joint venture of approximately $4.8 million, reflected within “Equity in net earnings of affiliates” in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Russian finance joint venture was sold during the three months ended
December 31, 2022.
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The sources of income before income taxes and equity in net earnings of affiliates were as follows for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

nited States...................................................................................................................... $ (60.2) $ 46.8 $ (73.4)
Foreign............................................................................................................................... 1,167.4 897.5 635.4
Income before income taxes and equity in net earnings of affiliates ................................ $ 1,107.2 $ 944.3 $ 562.0

The provision for income taxes by location of the taxing jurisdiction for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and
2020 consisted of the following (in millions):

Current:
nited States................................................................................................................... $ 26.0 $ 3.4 $ 4.1
Foreign............................................................................................................................ 328.6 222.9 180.2

354.6 226.3 184.3
Deferred:
nited States................................................................................................................... (55.3) (70.0) 1.3
Foreign............................................................................................................................ (2.7) (47.9) 2.1

(58.0) (117.9) 3.4
$ 296.6 $ 108.4 $ 187.7

The Company’s income tax provision as of December 31, 2021 includes the benefit of the reversals of approximately
$67.8 million and $55.6 million related to valuation allowances previously established against the Company’s net deferred tax
assets in the nited States and Brazil, respectively. The Company recorded the reversal of a portion of the nited States
valuation allowance during the three months ended une 30, 2021, and the reversal of a portion of its Brazilian valuation
allowance during the three months ended December 31, 2021. Improvements in income in the nited States and Brazil during
2020 and 2021, along with updated future projected income levels, supported the reversal of both valuation allowances during
those respective periods in 2021.

A reconciliation of income taxes computed at the nited States federal statutory income tax rate (21 for 2022, 2021
and 2020) to the provision for income taxes reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in millions):

Provision for income taxes at nited States federal statutory rate(1)................................. $ 232.5 $ 198.3 $ 118.0
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax effects(1) ..................................... (2.9) 2.2 (3.5)
Taxes on foreign income which differ from the nited States statutory rate ................... 43.6 16.2 13.9
Tax effect of permanent differences.................................................................................. (0.2) (6.4) 13.4
Change in valuation allowance.......................................................................................... 0.7 (130.8) 16.3
Change in tax contingency reserves .................................................................................. 25.5 36.6 37.2
Research and development tax credits .............................................................................. (6.9) (7.4) (9.0)
Other.................................................................................................................................. 4.3 (0.3) 1.4

$ 296.6 $ 108.4 $ 187.7

(1)There were no impacts related to changes in tax laws that impacted the Company in 2022, 2021 and 2020.
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The significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows
(in millions):

Deferred Tax Assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards ......................................................................................................... $ 45.9 $ 69.5
Sales incentive discounts...................................................................................................................... 46.3 40.1
Inventory valuation reserves ................................................................................................................ 34.4 33.6
Pensions and postretirement health care benefits................................................................................. 19.7 18.5
arranty and other reserves................................................................................................................. 127.7 102.9

Research and development tax credits ................................................................................................. 6.9 3.8
Foreign tax credits ................................................................................................................................ 4.7 9.4
Other..................................................................................................................................................... 15.6 14.0
Total gross deferred tax assets............................................................................................................ 301.2 291.8
Valuation allowance ........................................................................................................................... (47.3) (47.4)
Total deferred tax assets .................................................................................................................. 253.9 244.4

Deferred Tax iabilities:
Tax over book depreciation and amortization...................................................................................... 123.6 159.3
Investment in affiliates ......................................................................................................................... 11.3 24.4
Other..................................................................................................................................................... 2.5 8.3
Total deferred tax liabilities............................................................................................................. 137.4 192.0
Net deferred tax assets................................................................................................................. $ 116.5 $ 52.4

Amounts recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Deferred tax assets - noncurrent........................................................................................................... $ 228.5 $ 169.3
Deferred tax liabilities - noncurrent ..................................................................................................... (112.0) (116.9)

$ 116.5 $ 52.4

As reflected in the preceding table, the Company recorded a net deferred tax asset of $116.5 million and $52.4 million
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and had a valuation allowance against its gross deferred tax assets of
approximately $47.3 million and $47.4 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company maintains a valuation allowance to reserve a portion of its net deferred tax assets in the nited States
and certain foreign jurisdictions. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets may not be realized. The Company assessed the likelihood that its deferred tax assets would be recovered
from estimated future taxable income and the current economic climate, as well as available tax planning strategies, and
determined that all adjustments to the valuation allowance were appropriate. The Company believes it is more likely than not
that it will realize its remaining net deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance, in future years.

The Company had net operating loss carryforwards of $136.3 million as of December 31, 2022, with expiration dates
as follows: 2023 - $27.2 million 2024 - $6.7 million 2025 and thereafter - $21.2 million and unlimited - $81.2 million. The net
operating loss carryforwards of $136.3 million are entirely in tax jurisdictions outside of the nited States. The amount of the
Company’s .S. state net operating loss carryforwards is not material.

The Company paid income taxes of $304.0 million, $247.3 million and $181.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company recognizes income tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only when there is a more than 50
likelihood that the tax positions will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of
the positions. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had approximately $10.4 million and $40.1 million, respectively,
of accrued or deferred taxes related to uncertain income tax positions connected with ongoing income tax audits in various
jurisdictions that it expects to settle or pay in the next 12 months. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had
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approximately $274.1 million and $196.7 million, respectively, of accrued taxes reflected in “Other noncurrent liabilities”, and
approximately $2.8 million of deferred tax assets and $9.6 million of deferred tax liabilities, respectively, related to uncertain
tax positions that it expects to settle or pay beyond 12 months, reflected in “Deferred tax assets” and “Deferred tax liabilities,”
respectively, in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company accrued approximately $6.0 million and
$4.8 million of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its provision for income taxes during 2022 and
2021, respectively. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits of $25.8 million and $32.7 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of
and during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows (in millions):

Gross unrecognized income tax benefits at the beginning of the year................................................ $ 246.4 $ 227.9
Additions for tax positions of the current year.................................................................................... 51.7 43.0
Additions for tax positions of prior years ........................................................................................... 3.9 8.4
Reductions for tax positions of prior years for:
Changes in judgments ...................................................................................................................... (6.5) 3.2
Settlements during the year .............................................................................................................. (0.6) (19.1)
apses of applicable statute of limitations ....................................................................................... (1.2) (0.6)
Foreign currency translation and other............................................................................................. (12.0) (16.4)
Gross unrecognized income tax benefits at the end of the year.......................................................... $ 281.7 $ 246.4

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had $281.7 million and $246.4 million, respectively, of unrecognized
income tax benefits, which would affect the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized. The reconciliation of gross
unrecognized income tax benefits above for 2022 and 2021 excludes certain indirect favorable effects that relate to other tax
jurisdictions of approximately $74.0 million and $70.2 million, respectively. The change in certain indirect favorable effects
between 2022 and 2021 includes approximately $22.4 million and $3.8 million, respectively, related to additions and reductions
for tax positions of current and prior years, changes in judgments and lapses of statutes of limitations. During 2022, the
Company made the determination that it will be able to utilize approximately $15.7 million of indirect favorable benefits in the
nited States related to the settlement of a foreign audit examination. In addition, the gross unrecognized income tax benefits as
of December 31, 2022 and 2021 exclude certain deposits made in a foreign jurisdiction of approximately $45.1 million and
$6.7 million, respectively, associated with an ongoing audit.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the nited States and in various state, local and foreign
jurisdictions. The Company and its subsidiaries are routinely examined by tax authorities in these jurisdictions. As of
December 31, 2022, a number of income tax examinations in foreign jurisdictions, as well as the nited States, were ongoing.
It is possible that certain of these ongoing examinations may be resolved within 12 months. Due to the potential for resolution
of federal, state and foreign examinations, and the expiration of various statutes of limitation, it is reasonably possible that the
Company’s gross unrecognized income tax benefits balance may materially change within the next 12 months. In certain
foreign jurisdictions, there are either statutory expirations or the Company’s settlement expectations such that approximately
$10.4 million could be concluded within the next 12 months. Although there are ongoing examinations in various federal and
state jurisdictions, the 2017 through 2022 tax years generally remain subject to examination in the nited States by applicable
authorities. In the Company’s significant foreign jurisdictions, primarily the nited ingdom, France, Germany, Switzerland,
Finland and Brazil, the 2017 through 2022 tax years generally remain subject to examination by their respective tax authorities.
In Brazil, the Company is contesting disallowed deductions related to amortization of certain goodwill amounts (see Note 12).

In 2022, the .S. Inflation Reduction Act and the C IPS and Science Act of 2022 (the “Acts”) were signed into law.
These acts include, among other provisions, a corporate alternative minimum tax of 15 , an excise tax on the repurchase of
corporate stock, various climate and energy provisions, and incentives for investment in semiconductor manufacturing.
The primary provisions of the Acts are effective during 2023 and forward. The Company is evaluating the impact these acts
could have on the Company’s future tax provision and the effective tax rate, as well as any other impacts on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations.
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ong-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Credit facility, expires 2027 ................................................................................................ 200.0 —
1.002 Senior term loan due 2025..................................................................................... 267.3 283.7
Senior term loans due between 2023 and 2028 .................................................................. 341.6 445.9
0.800 Senior Notes Due 2028 641.5 680.8
Other long-term debt........................................................................................................... 5.1 7.7
Debt issuance costs .............................................................................................................. (3.6) (4.8)

1,451.9 1,413.3

ess: Senior term loans due 2023, net of debt issuance costs .......................................... (184.9) —
Current portion of other long-term debt ................................................................... (2.2) (2.1)

Total long-term indebtedness, less current portion............................................................. $ 1,264.8 $ 1,411.2

At December 31, 2022, the aggregate scheduled maturities of long-term debt, excluding the current portion of long-
term debt, are as follows (in millions):

2024 .................................................................................................................................................................... $ 2.2
2025 .................................................................................................................................................................... 334.7
2026 .................................................................................................................................................................... 56.3
2027 .................................................................................................................................................................... 200.2
Thereafter............................................................................................................................................................ 671.4

$ 1,264.8

Cash payments for interest were approximately $45.1 million, $23.8 million and $23.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

In December 2022, the Company, certain of its subsidiaries and Rabobank, and other named lenders entered into an
amendment to its credit facility providing for a $1.25 billion multi-currency unsecured revolving credit facility (“credit
facility”), which replaced the Company’s former $800.0 million multi-currency unsecured revolving credit facility, which is
discussed below. The amendment provided an additional $450.0 million in borrowing capacity. An initial borrowing under the
credit facility was used to repay and retire a $240.0 million short-term multi-currency revolving credit facility with Rabobank
that was due to mature on March 31, 2023. The credit facility consists of a $325.0 million .S. dollar tranche and a
$925.0 million multi-currency tranche for loans denominated in .S. Dollars, Euros or other currencies to be agreed upon.
The credit facility matures on December 19, 2027. Interest accrues on amounts outstanding for any borrowings denominated in
.S. dollars, at the Company’s option, at either (1) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 0.1 plus a margin
ranging from 0.875 to 1.875 based on the Company’s credit rating, or (2) the base rate, which is the highest of (i) the Prime
Rate, (ii) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5 , and (iii) Term SOFR for a one-month tenor plus 1.0 , plus a margin
ranging from 0.000 to 0.875 based on the Company’s credit rating. Interest accrues on amounts outstanding for any
borrowings denominated in Euros at the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“E RIBOR”) plus a margin ranging from 0.875 to
1.875 based on the Company’s credit rating. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $200.0 million outstanding
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borrowings under the revolving credit facility and had the ability to borrow $1,050.0 million.

In une 2022, the Company entered into an uncommitted revolving credit facility that allows the Company to borrow
up to 100.0 million (or approximately $106.9 million as of December 31, 2022). The credit facility expires on
December 31, 2026. Any loans will bear interest at the E RIBOR plus a credit spread. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
had no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility and had the ability to borrow 100.0 million
(or approximately $106.9 million).

On October 6, 2021, the Company issued 600.0 million (or approximately $641.5 million as of December 31, 2022)
of senior notes at an issue price of 99.993 . The notes mature on October 6, 2028, and interest is payable annually, in arrears,
at 0.800 . The senior notes contain covenants restricting, among other things, the incurrence of certain secured indebtedness.
The senior notes are subject to both optional and mandatory redemption in certain events.

On anuary 25, 2019, the Company borrowed 250.0 million (or approximately $267.3 million as of
December 31, 2022) from the European Investment Bank. The loan matures on anuary 24, 2025. The Company is permitted to
prepay the term loan before its maturity date. Interest is payable on the term loan at 1.002 per annum, payable semi-annually
in arrears.

In October 2016, the Company borrowed an aggregate amount of 375.0 million through a group of seven related
term loan agreements, and in August 2018, the Company borrowed an additional aggregate amount of 338.0 million through
a group of another seven related term loan agreements. Of the 2016 term loans, an aggregate amount of 56.0 million
(or approximately $61.1 million) was repaid upon maturity of two term loan agreements in October 2019. Additionally, the
Company repaid 192.0 million (or approximately $223.8 million) upon maturity of two of the 2016 senior term loans in
October 2021. On April 19, 2022, the Company repaid 1.0 million (or approximately $1.1 million) of one of the 2016 senior
term loans due October 2023. In August 2021, the Company repaid two of the 2018 senior term loans upon maturity with an
aggregate amount of 72.0 million (or approximately $85.5 million). On February 1, 2022, the Company repaid 72.5 million
(or approximately $81.7 million) of one of the 2018 senior term loans due August 2023 with existing cash on hand.

In aggregate, the Company had indebtedness of 319.5 million (or approximately $341.6 million as of
December 31, 2022) through a group of six remaining related term loan agreements. Two of the term loan agreements in the
aggregate amount of 173.0 million (or approximately $184.9 million net of debt issuance costs, as of December 31, 2022) will
mature in August and October 2023. The provisions of the term loan agreements are substantially identical, with the exception
of interest rate terms and maturities. As of December 31, 2022, for the term loans with a fixed interest rate, interest is payable in
arrears on an annual basis, with interest rates ranging from 0.90 to 2.26 and maturity dates between August 2023 and
August 2028. For the term loan with a floating interest rate, interest is payable in arrears on a semi-annual basis, with an interest
rate based on the E RIBOR plus a margin of 1.10 and a maturity date of August 2025. The term loans contain covenants
restricting, among other things, the incurrence of indebtedness and the making of certain payments, including dividends, and
are subject to acceleration in the event of default.

In April 2022, the Company entered into a short-term multi-currency revolving credit facility of 225.0 million with
Rabobank. The Company borrowed $240.0 million in .S. dollars (or approximately 225.0 million as of April 26, 2022), with
a maturity date of March 31, 2023. Interest accrued on amounts outstanding under the short-term credit facility, at the
Company’s option, at either (1) SOFR for borrowings denominated in .S. dollars or E RIBOR for borrowings denominated
in Euros plus a margin of 0.75 , or (2) the base rate, which is equal to the higher of (i) the administrative agent’s base lending
rate for the applicable currency, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5 , or (iii) one-month Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.0 , plus a
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margin of 0.75 . The credit facility contained covenants restricting, among other things, the incurrence of indebtedness and the
making of certain payments, including dividends. The Company also had to fulfill financial covenants with respect to a total
debt to EBITDA ratio and an interest coverage ratio. As previously mentioned, during December 2022, the Company repaid the
$240.0 million outstanding borrowings under the facility in .S. dollars.

In October 2018, the Company entered into a multi-currency revolving credit facility of $800.0 million. The maturity
date of the credit facility was October 17, 2023. Interest accrued on amounts outstanding under the credit facility, at the
Company’s option, at either (1) IBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.875 to 1.875 based on the Company’s credit rating,
or (2) the base rate, which is equal to the higher of (i) the administrative agent’s base lending rate for the applicable currency,
(ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5 , and (iii) one-month IBOR for loans denominated in .S. dollars plus 1.0 , plus a margin
ranging from 0.0 to 0.875 based on the Company’s credit rating. The credit facility contained covenants restricting, among
other things, the incurrence of indebtedness and the making of certain payments, including dividends. The Company also had to
fulfill financial covenants with respect to a total debt to EBITDA ratio and an interest coverage ratio. As previously mentioned,
during December 2022, the Company amended its credit facility agreement and replaced its $800.0 million multi-currency
revolving credit facility with a new $1.25 billion credit facility.

On April 15, 2020, the Company borrowed 117.5 million and $133.8 million under a term loan facility that had been
added to our multi-currency revolving credit facility. hile outstanding, the loans bore interest at one-month IBOR plus a
margin of 1.625 . The Company repaid the two loans on February 16, 2021 (for an aggregate amount of approximately
$276.0 million as of that date). The term loans matured on April 8, 2022.

In October 2018, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Rabobank in the amount of 150.0 million.
The Company was permitted to prepay the term loan before its maturity date of October 28, 2022. Interest was payable on the
term loan quarterly in arrears at an annual rate, equal to the E RIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.875 to 1.875 based on
the Company’s credit rating. The Company had to fulfill financial covenants with respect to a total debt to EBITDA ratio and
an interest coverage ratio. During October 2021, the Company repaid its senior term loan of 150.0 million (or approximately
$173.4 million as of October 8, 2021).

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had short-term borrowings due within one year of approximately
$8.9 million and $90.8 million, respectively.

The Company has arrangements with various banks to issue standby letters of credit or similar instruments, which
guarantee the Company’s obligations for the purchase or sale of certain inventories and for potential claims exposure for
insurance coverage. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, outstanding letters of credit totaled $14.4 million and $14.6 million,
respectively.

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans covering certain employees, principally in the nited ingdom,
the nited States, Germany, Switzerland, Finland, France, Norway and Argentina. The Company also provides certain
postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for certain employees, principally in the nited States and Brazil.

The Company also maintains an Executive Nonqualified Pension Plan (“ENPP”) that provides certain senior
executives with retirement income for a period of 15 years or up to a lifetime annuity, if certain requirements are met.
Benefits under the ENPP vest if the participant has attained age 50 and has at least ten years of service (including five years
as a participant in the ENPP), but are not payable until the participant reaches age 65. The lifetime annuity benefit generally is
available only to vested participants who retire on or after reaching age 65 and was eliminated during 2021 for participants
reaching age 65 subsequent to December 31, 2022. The ENPP is an unfunded, nonqualified defined benefit pension plan.
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Net annual pension costs for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 for the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans and ENPP are set forth below (in millions):

Service cost .............................................................................................. $ 12.8 $ 15.0 $ 16.2
Interest cost .............................................................................................. 14.8 12.6 16.5
Expected return on plan assets................................................................. (16.9) (31.3) (28.4)
Amortization of net actuarial losses......................................................... 8.7 16.5 15.5
Amortization of prior service cost ........................................................... 0.1 0.7 2.1
Net (gain) loss recognized due to settlement ........................................... (0.4) 0.1 0.2
Curtailment gain (1)................................................................................... — (1.2) —
Net annual pension cost ........................................................................... $ 19.1 $ 12.4 $ 22.1

(1) During 2021, the Company amended its Executive Nonqualified Pension Plan (“ENPP”) to freeze the plan as of December 31, 2024 to future salary
benefit accruals, and to eliminate a lifetime annuity feature for participants reaching age 65 subsequent to December 31, 2022. This amendment resulted
in a curtailment gain as well as a net prior service credit.

The components of net periodic pension and postretirement benefits cost, other than the service cost component,
are included in “Other expense, net” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net annual pension costs for the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans and ENPP for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

All plans:
eighted average discount rate.............................................................. 1.9 1.5 2.0
eighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets ...... 2.3 3.9 4.1

Rate of increase in future compensation................................................. 1.5 -5.0 1.5 -5.0 1.8 -5.0
.S.-based plans:
eighted average discount rate.............................................................. 3.05 2.75 3.45
eighted average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets(1) ... 4.3 5.0 5.0

Rate of increase in future compensation(2).............................................. 5.0 5.0 5.0

(1) Applicable for .S. funded, qualified plans.
(2) Applicable for .S. unfunded, nonqualified plan.

For the Company’s Swiss cash balance plan, the interest crediting rate of 1.0 for both 2022 and 2021 was set equal
to the current annual minimum rate set by the government for the mandatory portion of the account balance. Above mandatory
amounts have an interest crediting rate of 0.25 for both 2022 and 2021.

Net annual postretirement benefit costs, and the weighted average discount rate used to determine them, for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are set forth below (in millions, except percentages):

Service cost .............................................................................................. $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Interest cost .............................................................................................. 0.9 0.9 1.2
Amortization of net actuarial losses......................................................... — 0.1 0.1
Amortization of prior service cost ........................................................... 0.1 0.1 0.1
Net annual postretirement benefit cost .................................................... $ 1.1 $ 1.2 $ 1.5
eighted average discount rate ............................................................... 4.1 3.8 4.5
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The following tables set forth reconciliations of the changes in benefit obligation, plan assets and funded status as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Benefit obligation at beginning of year...................... $ 904.8 $ 1,033.7 $ 22.6 $ 26.4
Service cost ................................................................ 12.8 15.0 0.1 0.1
Interest cost ................................................................ 14.8 12.6 0.9 0.9
Plan participants’ contributions.................................. 1.2 1.4 — —
Actuarial losses (gains) .............................................. (227.2) (70.7) (0.9) (3.7)
Amendments .............................................................. 25.5 (13.6) — 0.4
Curtailment................................................................. — (9.7) — —
Settlements ................................................................. (5.0) (0.2) — —
Benefits paid............................................................... (44.0) (47.2) (1.7) (1.3)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes ................... (71.3) (16.5) 0.2 (0.2)
Benefit obligation at end of year ................................ $ 611.6 $ 904.8 $ 21.2 $ 22.6

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ............ $ 815.6 $ 808.6 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets ....................................... (197.1) 27.7 — —
Employer contributions.............................................. 34.1 36.0 1.7 1.3
Plan participants’ contributions.................................. 1.2 1.4 — —
Benefits paid............................................................... (44.0) (47.2) (1.7) (1.3)
Settlements ................................................................. (5.0) (0.2) — —
Foreign currency exchange rate changes ................... (76.1) (10.7) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year ...................... $ 528.7 $ 815.6 $ — $ —
Funded status.............................................................. $ (82.9) $ (89.2) $ (21.2) $ (22.6)
nrecognized net actuarial losses (gains) .................. 270.0 291.7 (2.0) (1.1)
nrecognized prior service cost................................. 32.5 7.1 3.1 3.2
Accumulated other comprehensive loss..................... (302.5) (298.8) (1.1) (2.1)
Net amount recognized............................................... $ (82.9) $ (89.2) $ (21.2) $ (22.6)

Other long-term asset ................................................. $ 66.3 $ 109.4 $ — $ —
Other current liabilities............................................... (7.0) (7.1) (1.6) (1.5)
Accrued expenses....................................................... (3.8) (3.6) — —
Pensions and postretirement health care benefits
(noncurrent)................................................................ (138.4) (187.9) (19.6) (21.1)
Net amount recognized............................................... $ (82.9) $ (89.2) $ (21.2) $ (22.6)
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The following table summarizes the activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the Company’s ENPP
and defined pension and postretirement benefit plans during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2020 ......... $ (412.5) $ (99.2) $ (313.3)
Prior service credit arising during the year .............................................. 13.1 3.1 10.0
Net loss recognized due to settlement...................................................... 0.1 — 0.1
Net loss recognized due to curtailment.................................................... 8.5 2.2 6.3
Net actuarial gain arising during the year ................................................ 71.0 17.4 53.6
Amortization of prior service cost .......................................................... 0.8 0.2 0.6
Amortization of net actuarial losses......................................................... 16.6 4.3 12.3
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2021 ......... $ (302.4) $ (72.0) $ (230.4)
Prior service credit arising during the year .............................................. (25.5) (6.4) (19.1)
Net (gain) loss recognized due to settlement ........................................... (0.4) — (0.4)
Net actuarial gain arising during the year ................................................ 15.0 2.7 12.3
Amortization of prior service cost .......................................................... 0.2 0.2 —
Amortization of net actuarial losses ........................................................ 8.7 2.3 6.4
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2022 ......... $ (304.4) $ (73.2) $ (231.2)

The unrecognized net actuarial losses included in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the Company’s
defined benefit pension plans and ENPP as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are set forth below (in millions):

nrecognized net actuarial losses ........................................................................................... $ 270.0 $ 291.7

The decrease in unrecognized net actuarial losses between years primarily resulted from higher discount rates at
December 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021. The unrecognized net actuarial losses will be impacted in future periods
by actual asset returns, discount rate changes, currency exchange rate fluctuations, actual demographic experience and certain
other factors. For some of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans, these losses, to the extent they exceed 10 of the
greater of the plan’s liabilities or the fair value of assets (“the gain loss corridor”), will be amortized on a straight-line basis
over the periods discussed as follows. For the Company’s .S. salaried, .S. hourly and . . defined benefit pension plans,
the population covered is predominantly inactive participants, and losses related to those plans, to the extent they exceed the
gain loss corridor, will be amortized over the average remaining lives of those participants while covered by the respective plan.
For the Company’s ENPP, the population is predominantly active participants, and losses related to the plan will be amortized
over the average future working lifetime of the active participants expected to receive benefits. As of December 31, 2022,
the average amortization periods were as follows:

Average amortization period of losses related to defined benefit pension plans ........ 7 years 14 years 19 years

The following table summarizes the unrecognized prior service cost related to the Company’s defined benefit pension
plans as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

nrecognized prior service cost.............................................................................................. $ 32.5 $ 7.1

The increase in the unrecognized prior service cost between years is due primarily to the Company updating its
estimate of current assumptions, interpretations and approach affecting the Company’s defined benefit pension obligations
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related to certain defined benefit plans resulting in a revision of its estimate of prior service cost of approximately
$25.5 million. The 2021 balance also reflects the 2021 plan amendment to the Company’s ENPP, as previously discussed.

The following table summarizes the unrecognized net actuarial gains included in the Company’s accumulated other
comprehensive loss related to the Company’s .S. and Brazilian postretirement health care benefit plans as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

nrecognized net actuarial gains(1) ......................................................................................... $ (2.0) $ (1.1)

(1) Includes a gain of approximately $1.1 million and a loss of $0.2 million, respectively, related to the Company’s .S. postretirement benefit plans.

The unrecognized net actuarial gains related to the Company’s .S. and Brazilian postretirement benefit plans is
primarily due to liability gains due to the experience of the plans and assumption changes as of December 31, 2022 as
compared to December 31, 2021 primarily resulting from higher discount rates at December 31, 2022. The unrecognized net
actuarial gains or losses will be impacted in future periods by discount rate changes, actual demographic experience, actual
health care inflation and certain other factors. These gains or losses, to the extent they exceed the gain loss corridor, will be
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits,
or the average remaining lives of inactive participants, covered under the postretirement benefit plans. As of
December 31, 2022, the gains or losses did not exceed the corridor for the Company’s .S. postretirement benefit plan and
therefore, there will be no amortization of unrecognized gains or losses during 2023.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the net prior service cost related to the Company’s Brazilian postretirement health
care benefit plans was as follows (in millions):

Net prior service cost .............................................................................................................. $ 3.1 $ 3.2

The following table summarizes the fair value of plan assets, aggregate projected benefit obligation and accumulated
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 for defined benefit pension plans, ENPP and other postretirement plans
with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets (in millions):

Fair value of plan assets ....................................................................................................... $ 39.4 $ 43.4
Projected benefit obligation.................................................................................................. 209.8 264.1
Accumulated benefit obligation ........................................................................................... 199.0 246.6

Fair value of plan assets ....................................................................................................... $ 3.3 $ 4.9
Projected benefit obligation.................................................................................................. 106.1 130.9
Accumulated benefit obligation ........................................................................................... 103.4 125.4

The amounts for 2022 and 2021 disclosed above do not include the fair value of plan assets, the projected benefit
obligation or the accumulated benefit obligation related to the Company’s . . plan. The Company’s . . plan’s fair value of
plan assets was in excess of the plan’s accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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The Company’s accumulated comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 reflects a reduction in equity
related to the following items (in millions):

(1)

Reduction in equity, net of taxes of $72.9 and $71.5 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively . $ 303.6 $ 300.9
(2)

Reduction in equity, net of taxes of $0.3 and $0.5 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively ..... 0.8 1.5

(1) Primarily related to the Company’s . . pension plan, excluding the GIMA joint venture.
(2) These amounts represented 50 of GIMA’s unrecognized net actuarial losses and unrecognized prior service cost associated with its pension plan.

The Company’s defined benefit pension obligation has been reflected on the manner in which its defined benefit plans
are being administered or expected to be administered in the future. The obligation and resulting liability or asset is calculated
employing both actuarial and legal assumptions. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, future inflation, the return
on pension assets, discount rates, life expectancy and potential salary increases. There are also assumptions related to the
manner in which individual benefit plan benefits are calculated, some of which are legal in nature and include, but are not
limited to, member eligibility, years of service, and the uniformity of both guaranteed minimum pension benefits and member
normal retirement ages for men and women. Some of these assumptions also are subject to the outcome of certain legal cases,
which are currently unknown. In the event that any of these assumptions or the administration approach are proven to be
different from the Company’s current interpretations and approach, there could be material increases or decreases in the
Company’s defined benefit pension obligation and related amounts such as prior service cost and actuarial gains and losses, as
well as the related amount and timing of future contributions to be paid by the Company. As previously mentioned, during
2022, the Company updated its estimate of current assumptions, interpretations and approach affecting the Company’s defined
benefit pension obligations related to certain defined benefit plans and recorded a revision of its estimate of prior service cost of
approximately $25.5 million.

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation for the Company’s defined benefit pension
plans and ENPP as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

eighted average discount rate............................................................................................ 4.9 1.9
Rate of increase in future compensation .............................................................................. 1.75 -5.0 1.50 -5.0

eighted average discount rate............................................................................................ 5.70 3.05
Rate of increase in future compensation(1) ........................................................................... 5.00 5.00

(1) Applicable for .S. unfunded, nonqualified plan.

The weighted average discount rate used to determine the benefit obligation for the Company’s postretirement benefit
plans for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was 6.6 and 4.1 , respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company used a globally consistent methodology to set
the discount rate in the countries where its largest benefit obligations exist. In the nited States, the nited ingdom and the
Euro one, the Company constructed a hypothetical bond portfolio of high-quality corporate bonds and then applied the cash
flows of the Company’s benefit plans to those bond yields to derive a discount rate. The bond portfolio and plan-specific cash
flows vary by country, but the methodology in which the portfolio is constructed is consistent. In the nited States, the bond
portfolio is large enough to result in taking a “settlement approach” to derive the discount rate, in which high-quality corporate
bonds are assumed to be purchased and the resulting coupon payments and maturities are used to satisfy the Company’s .S.
pension plans’ projected benefit payments. In the nited ingdom and the Euro one, the discount rate is derived using a
“yield curve approach,” in which an individual spot rate, or zero coupon bond yield, for each future annual period is developed
to discount each future benefit payment and, thereby, determine the present value of all future payments. The Company uses a
spot yield curve to determine the discount rate applicable in the nited ingdom to measure the . . pension plan’s service
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cost and interest cost. nder the settlement and yield curve approaches, the discount rate is set to equal the single discount rate
that produces the same present value of all future payments.

For measuring the expected .S. postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2022, the Company assumed a
8.0 health care cost trend rate for 2023 decreasing to 5.0 by 2035. For measuring the expected .S. postretirement benefit
obligation at December 31, 2021, the Company assumed a 6.8 health care cost trend rate for 2022 decreasing to 5.0 by
2029. For measuring the Brazilian postretirement benefit plan obligation at December 31, 2022, the Company assumed a
10.23 health care cost trend rate for 2023, decreasing to 4.54 by 2033. For measuring the Brazilian postretirement benefit
plan obligation at December 31, 2021, the Company assumed a 9.96 health care cost trend rate for 2022, decreasing to 4.28
by 2033.

The Company currently estimates its minimum contributions and benefit payments to its .S.-based underfunded
defined benefit pension plans and unfunded ENPP for 2023 will aggregate approximately $4.8 million. The Company currently
estimates its minimum contributions for underfunded plans and benefit payments for unfunded plans for 2023 to its non- .S.-
based defined benefit pension plans will aggregate approximately $29.8 million, of which approximately $19.4 million relates
to its . . pension plan. The Company currently estimates its benefit payments for 2023 to its .S.-based postretirement health
care and life insurance benefit plans will aggregate approximately $1.6 million and its benefit payments for 2023 to its Brazilian
postretirement health care benefit plans will aggregate less than $0.1 million.

During 2022, approximately $49.0 million of benefit payments were made related to the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans and ENPP. At December 31, 2022, the aggregate expected benefit payments for the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans and ENPP are as follows (in millions):

2023 ...................................................................................................................................................................... $ 47.4
2024 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 47.6
2025 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 48.3
2026 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 48.2
2027 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 49.0
2028 through 2032................................................................................................................................................ 260.3

$ 500.8

During 2022, approximately $1.7 million of benefit payments were made related to the Company’s .S. and Brazilian
postretirement benefit plans. At December 31, 2022, the aggregate expected benefit payments for the Company’s .S. and
Brazilian postretirement benefit plans are as follows (in millions):

2023 ...................................................................................................................................................................... $ 1.7
2024 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1.7
2025 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1.7
2026 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1.8
2027 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1.8
2028 through 2032................................................................................................................................................ 8.6

$ 17.3
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The weighted average asset allocation of the Company’s .S. pension benefit plans as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

Equity securities .................................................................................................................... 10 14
Fixed income securities ......................................................................................................... 79 75
Other investments.................................................................................................................. 11 11
Total ...................................................................................................................................... 100 100

The weighted average asset allocation of the Company’s non- .S. pension benefit plans as of December 31, 2022 and
2021 are as follows:

Equity securities .................................................................................................................... 11 14
Fixed income securities ......................................................................................................... 80 80
Other investments.................................................................................................................. 9 6
Total ...................................................................................................................................... 100 100

The Company categorizes its pension plan assets into one of three levels based on the assumptions used in valuing the
asset. See Note 13 for a discussion of the fair value hierarchy as per the guidance in ASC 820, “Fair Value
Measurements” (“ASC 820”). The Company’s valuation techniques are designed to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The Company uses the following valuation methodologies to measure the fair value of
its pension plan assets:

: Equity securities are valued on the basis of the closing price per unit on each business day as
reported on the applicable exchange. Equity funds are valued using the net asset value of the fund, which is based on
the fair value of the underlying securities.

: Fixed income securities are valued using the closing prices in the active market in which the fixed
income investment trades. Fixed income funds are valued using the net asset value of the fund, which is based on the
fair value of the underlying securities.

: These investments primarily consist of short-term investment funds which are valued using the net asset value.
: These investments are reported at fair value as determined by the general partner of the

alternative investment. The “market approach” valuation technique is used to value investments in these funds.
The funds typically are open-end funds as they generally offer subscription and redemption options to investors.
The frequency of such subscriptions or redemptions is dictated by each fund’s governing documents. The amount of
liquidity provided to investors in a particular fund generally is consistent with the liquidity and risk associated with the
underlying portfolio (i.e., the more liquid the investments in the portfolio, the greater the liquidity provided to
investors). iquidity of individual funds varies based on various factors and may include “gates,” “holdbacks” and
“side pockets” imposed by the manager of the fund, as well as redemption fees that may also apply. Investments in
these funds typically are valued utilizing the net asset valuations provided by their underlying investment managers,
general partners or administrators. The funds consider subscription and redemption rights, including any restrictions on
the disposition of the interest, in its determination of the fair value.

: Insurance contracts are valued using current prevailing interest rates.
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The fair value of the Company’s pension assets as of December 31, 2022 is as follows (in millions):

Equity securities:
Global equities .......................................................... $ 50.1 $ 8.7 $ 41.4 $ —
.S. large cap equities............................................... 2.9 2.9 — —
Total equity securities........................................... 53.0 11.6 41.4 —

Fixed income:
Aggregate fixed income............................................ 394.1 394.1 — —
Total fixed income share(1) .................................. 394.1 394.1 — —

Alternative investments:
Private equity fund.................................................... 2.4 — — 2.4
edge funds measured at net asset value(4)............... 32.2 — — —
Total alternative investments(2)............................. 34.6 — — 2.4

Miscellaneous funds(3) ................................................. 37.8 — — 37.8
Cash and equivalents measured at net asset value(4).... 9.2 — — —

Total assets ........................................................... $ 528.7 $ 405.7 $ 41.4 $ 40.2

(1) 57 of “fixed income” securities are in government treasuries 21 are in foreign securities 14 are in investment-grade corporate bonds 7 are in
high-yield securities and 1 are in other various fixed income securities.

(2) 51 of “alternative investments” are in relative value funds 23 are in long-short equity funds 11 are in event-driven funds 9 are in credit funds
and 6 are distributed in hedged and non-hedged funds.

(3) “Miscellaneous funds” is comprised of insurance contracts in Finland, Norway and Switzerland.
(4) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in

the fair value hierarchy.

The following is a reconciliation of evel 3 assets as of December 31, 2022 (in millions):

Beginning balance as of December 31, 2021 ............................................ $ 43.7 $ 3.5 $ 40.2
Actual return on plan assets:
(a) Relating to assets still held at reporting date..................................... (0.9) (1.1) 0.2
Purchases, sales and or settlements .......................................................... (0.2) — (0.2)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes................................................... (2.4) — (2.4)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2022 ................................................. $ 40.2 $ 2.4 $ 37.8
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The fair value of the Company’s pension assets as of December 31, 2021 is as follows (in millions):

Equity securities:
Global equities .......................................................... $ 102.5 $ 18.2 $ 84.3 $ —
.S. large cap equities............................................... 5.6 5.6 — —
Total equity securities........................................... 108.1 23.8 84.3 —

Fixed income:
Aggregate fixed income............................................ 615.9 615.9 — —
Total fixed income share(1) .................................. 615.9 615.9 — —

Alternative investments:
Private equity fund.................................................... 3.5 — — 3.5
edge funds measured at net asset value(4)............... 41.7 — — —
Total alternative investments(2)............................. 45.2 — — 3.5

Miscellaneous funds(3) ................................................. 40.2 — — 40.2
Cash and equivalents measured at net asset value(4).... 6.2 — — —

Total assets ........................................................... $ 815.6 $ 639.7 $ 84.3 $ 43.7

(1) 50 of “fixed income” securities are in government treasuries 20 are in foreign securities 13 are in investment-grade corporate bonds 8 are in
high-yield securities 6 are in other various fixed income securities and 3 are in asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities.

(2) 42 of “alternative investments” are in relative value funds 28 are in long-short equity funds 14 are in event-driven funds 8 are in credit funds
and 8 are distributed in hedged and non-hedged funds.

(3) “Miscellaneous funds” is comprised of insurance contracts in Finland, Norway and Switzerland.
(4) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorized in

the fair value hierarchy.

The following is a reconciliation of evel 3 assets as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Beginning balance as of December 31, 2020 ............................................ $ 38.7 $ 2.1 $ 36.6
Actual return on plan assets:
(a) Relating to assets still held at reporting date..................................... 3.3 1.4 1.9
(b) Relating to assets sold during period ................................................ — — —
Purchases, sales and or settlements .......................................................... 4.7 — 4.7
Foreign currency exchange rate changes................................................... (3.0) — (3.0)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2021 ................................................. $ 43.7 $ 3.5 $ 40.2

All tax-qualified pension fund investments in the nited States are held in the AGCO Corporation Master Pension
Trust. The Company’s global pension fund strategy is to diversify investments across broad categories of equity and fixed
income securities with appropriate use of alternative investment categories to minimize risk and volatility. The primary
investment objective of the Company’s pension plans is to secure participant retirement benefits. As such, the key objective in
the pension plans’ financial management is to promote stability and, to the extent appropriate, growth in funded status.
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The investment strategy for the plans’ portfolio of assets balances the requirement to generate returns with the need to
control risk. The asset mix is recognized as the primary mechanism to influence the reward and risk structure of the pension
fund investments in an effort to accomplish the plans’ funding objectives. The overall investment strategies and target
allocations of retirement fund investments for the Company’s .S.-based pension plans and the non- .S. based pension plans
are as follows:

(1)

(2)

Assets for the near-term benefit payments ........................................................................... 80.0 92.5
Assets for longer-term growth.............................................................................................. 20.0 7.5
Total.................................................................................................................................... 100.0 100.0

Equity securities ................................................................................................................... 17.0 12.5
Fixed income securities ........................................................................................................ 75.0 82.5
Alternative investments ........................................................................................................ 3.0 5.0
Cash and cash equivalents .................................................................................................... 5.0 —
Total.................................................................................................................................... 100.0 100.0

(1) The majority of the Company’s non- .S. pension fund investments are related to the Company’s pension plan in the nited ingdom.
(2) The overall .S. and non- .S. pension funds invest in a broad diversification of asset types.

The Company has noted that over very long periods, this mix of investments would achieve an average return on its
.S.-based pension plans of approximately 6.3 . In arriving at the choice of an expected return assumption of 5.75 for its
.S. plans for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company has tempered this historical indicator with lower expectations
for returns and changes to investments in the future as well as the administrative costs of the plans. The Company has noted that
over very long periods, this mix of investments would achieve an average return on its non- .S. based pension plans of
approximately 6.0 . In arriving at the choice of an expected return assumption of 5.75 for its . .-based plans for the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Company has tempered this historical indicator with lower expectations for returns and changes
to investments in the future as well as the administrative costs of the plans.

Equity securities primarily include investments in large-cap and small-cap companies located across the globe. Fixed
income securities include corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries, mortgage-backed securities, agency
mortgages, asset-backed securities and government securities. Alternative and other assets include investments in hedge fund of
funds that follow diversified investment strategies. To date, the Company has not invested pension funds in its own stock and
has no intention of doing so in the future.

ithin each asset class, careful consideration is given to balancing the portfolio among industry sectors, geographies,
interest rate sensitivity, dependence on economic growth, currency and other factors affecting investment returns. The assets are
managed by professional investment firms, who are bound by precise mandates and are measured against specific benchmarks.
Among asset managers, consideration is given, among others, to balancing security concentration, issuer concentration,
investment style and reliance on particular active investment strategies.

The Company participates in a small number of multiemployer plans in the Netherlands and Sweden. The Company
has assessed and determined that none of the multiemployer plans which it participates in are individually, or in the aggregate,
significant to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company does not expect to incur a withdrawal liability
or expect to significantly increase its contributions over the remainder of the multiemployer plans’ contract periods.

The Company maintains separate defined contribution plans covering certain employees and executives, primarily in
the nited States, the nited ingdom and Brazil. nder the plans, the Company contributes a specified percentage of each
eligible employee’s compensation. The Company contributed approximately $17.9 million, $16.9 million and $15.4 million for
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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At December 31, 2022, the Company had 150,000,000 authorized shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01
per share, with approximately 74,600,815 shares of common stock outstanding and approximately 3,780,349 shares reserved for
issuance under the Company’s 2006 ong-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) (See Note 10).

In August and November 2021, the Company entered into two accelerated share repurchase (“ASR”) agreements with
financial institutions to repurchase an aggregate of $135.0 million of shares of its common stock. The Company received
approximately 952,204 shares associated with these transactions as of December 31, 2021. On anuary 19, 2022, the Company
received additional 113,824 shares upon final settlement of its November 2021 ASR agreement. In February and March 2020,
the Company entered into two ASR agreements with financial institutions to repurchase an aggregate of $55.0 million of shares
of its common stock. The Company received approximately 970,141 shares in these transactions as of December 31, 2020.
All shares received under the ASR agreements were retired upon receipt, and the excess of the purchase price over par value per
share was recorded to a combination of “Additional paid-in capital” and “Retained earnings” within our Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

During 2022, the Company did not purchase any shares directly or enter into any accelerated share repurchase
agreements. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining amount authorized to be repurchased under board-approved share
repurchase authorizations was approximately $110.0 million, which has no expiration date.

The Company’s Board of Directors has declared and the Company has paid cash dividends per common share during
the following years:

(1) (2)(3) (3)

Dividends declared and paid per common share................................................... $ 5.40 $ 4.74 $ 0.63

(1) On April 28, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.24 per common share outstanding commencing in the second
quarter of 2022. The Company’s Board of Directors declared and the Company has paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.24 per common share beginning in
the second quarter of 2022, from $0.20 per common share in the first quarter of 2022. In addition, the Company's Board of Directors also declared and the
Company paid a special variable dividend of $4.50 per common share during 2022 totaling approximately $335.7 million.

(2) The Company’s Board of Directors declared and the Company has paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.20 per common share beginning in the second
quarter of 2021, from $0.16 per common share in the first quarter of 2021. In addition, the Company’s Board of Directors also declared and the Company
paid a special variable dividend of $4.00 per common share during 2021 totaling approximately $301.5 million.

(3) The Company’s Board of Directors declared and the Company has paid quarterly cash dividends of $0.16 per common share, beginning in the second
quarter of 2019 through the first quarter of 2021, from $0.15 per common share in the first quarter of 2019.
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The following table sets forth changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component, net of tax, attributed to
AGCO Corporation and its subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
December 31, 2020 ......................................... $ (313.3) $ (1,495) $ (2.5) $ (1,810.8)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
before reclassifications............................. 70.0 (45.1) 5.1 30.0
Net losses (gains) reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss.... 12.9 — (3.0) 9.9

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
reclassification adjustments ............................ 82.9 (45.1) 2.1 39.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
December 31, 2021 ......................................... (230.4) (1,540.1) (0.4) (1,770.9)

Other comprehensive loss before
reclassifications........................................ (7.2) (30.9) (14.6) (52.7)
Net losses reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive loss......................... 6.4 — 14.1 20.5

Other comprehensive loss, net of
reclassification adjustments ............................ (0.8) (30.9) (0.5) (32.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss,
December 31, 2022 ......................................... $ (231.2) $ (1,571.0) $ (0.9) $ (1,803.1)
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The following table sets forth reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive loss by component
attributed to AGCO Corporation and its subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

(1) (1)

Derivatives:
Net losses on foreign currency contracts ....... $ 14.5 $ 11.4 Cost of goods sold
Net losses (gains) on commodity contracts.... 4.7 (17.2) Cost of goods sold

Reclassification before tax................................. 19.2 (5.8)
(5.1) 2.8 Income tax provision

Reclassification net of tax.................................. $ 14.1 $ (3.0)

Defined benefit pension plans:
Amortization of net actuarial losses ............... $ 8.7 $ 16.6 Other expense, net(2)

Amortization of prior service cost.................. 0.2 0.8 Other expense, net(2)

Reclassification before tax................................. 8.9 17.4
(2.5) (4.5) Income tax provision

Reclassification net of tax.................................. $ 6.4 $ 12.9

Net losses reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive loss ............................... $ 20.5 $ 9.9

(1) osses (gains) included within the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
(2) These accumulated other comprehensive loss components are included in the computation of net periodic pension and postretirement benefit cost. See

Note 8 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

nder the Plan, up to 10,000,000 shares of AGCO’s common stock may be issued. As of December 31, 2022, of the
10,000,000 shares reserved for issuance under the Plan, approximately 3,780,349 shares remained available for grant, assuming
the maximum number of shares are earned related to the performance award grants discussed below. The Plan allows the
Company, under the direction of the Board of Directors’ Compensation Committee, to make grants of performance shares,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and restricted stock awards to employees, officers and non-employee directors
of the Company.

The Company’s primary long-term incentive plan is a performance share plan that provides for awards of shares of the
Company’s common stock based on achieving financial targets, such as targets for return on invested capital, operating
margins, return on net assets and revenue growth, as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. Performance periods for
the Company’s primary long-term incentive plan are consecutive and overlapping three-year cycles, and performance targets
are set at the beginning of each cycle. The primary long-term incentive plan provides for participants to earn 16.5 to 200 of
the target awards depending on the actual performance achieved, with no shares earned if performance is below the established
minimum target. Awards earned under the Plan are paid in shares of common stock at the end of each three-year performance
period. The percentage level achievement is determined annually or over the three-year cycle in aggregate, with the ultimate
award that is earned determined based upon the average of the three annual percentages. The 2022 grant of performance award
shares is subject to a total shareholder return modifier. The compensation expense associated with these awards is amortized
ratably over the vesting or performance period based on the Company’s projected assessment of the level of performance that
will be achieved and earned.
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During 2022, the Company granted 320,120 performance awards if the Company were to achieve its maximum levels
of performance related to varying performance periods. Compensation expense recorded during 2022, 2021 and 2020 with
respect to awards granted was based upon the fair value as of the grant date. For the 2022 and 2021 awards that included a
market condition, the Company measured the fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation. The weighted average grant-date fair
value of performance awards granted under the Plan during 2022, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

eighted average grant-date fair value ............................................ $ 119.35 $ 123.33 $ 70.84

Performance award transactions during 2022 were as follows and are presented as if the Company were to achieve its
maximum levels of performance under the plan:

Shares awarded but not earned at anuary 1.................................................................. 514,714 $ 97.72
Shares awarded.............................................................................................................. 320,120 119.35
Shares forfeited.............................................................................................................. (34,324) 108.99
Shares vested or earned ................................................................................................. (256,606) 73.96
Shares awarded but not earned at December 31............................................................ 543,904 $ 120.94

Based on the level of performance achieved as of December 31, 2022, 289,513 shares were earned under the related
performance period, including 53,681 shares vested as of December 31, 2021 related to certain retirees and other individuals.
183,431 shares were issued in February 2023, net of 106,082 shares that were withheld for taxes related to the earned awards.
The Plan allows for the participant to have the option of forfeiting a portion of the shares awarded in lieu of a cash payment
contributed to the participant’s tax withholding to satisfy the participant’s statutory minimum federal, state and employment
taxes which would be payable at the time of grant. In addition, assuming the maximum target levels of performance achieved,
there were 13,560 shares earned as of December 31, 2022 related to certain retirees and other individuals that will be issued at
the end of the relevant performance periods based on the ultimate level of performance achieved with respect to those periods.

As of December 31, 2022, the total compensation cost related to unearned performance awards not yet recognized,
assuming the Company’s current projected assessment of the level of performance that will be achieved, was approximately
$30.9 million, and the weighted average period over which it is expected to be recognized is approximately two years. This
estimate is based on the current projected levels of performance of outstanding awards. The compensation cost not yet
recognized could be higher or lower based on actual achieved levels of performance.

Restricted stock unit (“RS ”) awards granted under Plan do not entitle recipients to vote or receive dividends during
the vesting period and will be forfeited in the event of the recipient’s termination of employment, except for certain
circumstances such as retirement, death or disability. The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units is the closing
market price per share of the Company’s stock on the grant date less the present value of the expected dividends not received
during the vesting period.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of the RS s granted under the Plan during 2022, 2021 and 2020 was as
follows:

eighted average grant-date fair value ............................................ $ 109.09 $ 113.91 $ 70.83
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company granted 133,546 RS awards. These awards entitle the
participant to receive one share of the Company’s common stock for each RS granted and vest one-third per year over a
three-year requisite service period. The 2020 grant of RS s to certain executives has a three-year cliff vesting requirement
subject to adjustment based on a margin improvement metric relative to the Company’s defined peer group. The compensation
expense associated with all RS awards is being amortized ratably over the requisite service period for the awards that are
expected to vest. RS transactions during the year ended December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Shares awarded but not vested at anuary 1 .................................................................. 159,228 $ 93.13
Shares awarded.............................................................................................................. 133,546 109.09
Shares forfeited.............................................................................................................. (9,320) 107.53
Shares vested ................................................................................................................. (70,256) 86.71
Shares awarded but not vested at December 31 ............................................................ 213,198 $ 104.62

A majority of the 70,256 shares vested with respect to RS awards during 2022 were issued in anuary 2022. 4,380
shares vested during 2022 related to certain retirees. During anuary 2023, 53,637 RS s shares were issued, net of 31,458
shares that were withheld for taxes. 22,451 RS s 2020 remain to be issued as they are subject to adjustment based on a total
margin improvement metric relative to the Company’s defined peers. The Plan allows for the participant to have the option of
forfeiting a portion of the shares awarded in lieu of a cash payment contributed to the participant’s tax withholding to satisfy the
participant’s statutory minimum federal, state and employment taxes which would be payable at the time of grant. As of
December 31, 2022, the total compensation cost related to the unvested RS s not yet recognized was approximately
$13.0 million, and the weighted average period over which it is expected to be recognized is approximately one and one-half
years.

On anuary 30, 2023, the Company granted 140,042 performance award shares (subject to the Company achieving
future target levels of performance) and 100,955 RS s under the Plan. The 2023 grant of performance award shares is subject
to a total shareholder return modifier.

Certain executives and key managers were eligible to receive grants of SSARs through the year ended
December 31, 2020. The Company did not grant any SSARs since the year ended December 31, 2020 and does not currently
anticipate granting any SSARs in the future. The Company recorded stock compensation expense of approximately
$0.5 million, $0.8 million and $1.9 million associated with SSAR awards during 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The compensation expense associated with these awards is being amortized ratably over the vesting period. The Company
estimated the fair value of the grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The total fair value of SSARs vested during 2022 was approximately $0.7 million. There were 57,300 SSARs that
were not vested and 144,984 SSARs outstanding as of December 31, 2022. The total intrinsic value of outstanding and
exercisable SSARs as of December 31, 2022 was $10.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of
SSARs exercised during 2022 was approximately $2.8 million.

The excess tax benefit realized for tax deductions in the nited States related to the exercise of SSARs, vesting of
RS awards and vesting of performance awards under the Plan was approximately $1.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The excess tax benefit realized for tax deductions in the nited States related to the exercise of
SSARs, vesting of RS awards and vesting of performance awards under the Plan was approximately $3.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021. The excess tax benefit realized for tax deductions in the nited States related to the exercise of
SSARs, vesting of RS awards and vesting of performance awards under the Plan was approximately $2.5 million for the year
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ended December 31, 2020. The Company realized an insignificant tax benefit from the exercise of SSARs, vesting of
performance awards and vesting of RS awards in certain foreign jurisdictions during the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020.

Pursuant to the Plan, all non-employee directors receive annual restricted stock grants of the Company’s common
stock. All restricted stock grants made to the Company’s directors are restricted as to transferability for a period of one year.
In the event a director departs from the Company’s Board of Directors, the non-transferability period expires immediately.
The plan allows each director to have the option of forfeiting a portion of the shares awarded in lieu of a cash payment
contributed to the participant’s tax withholding to satisfy the statutory minimum federal, state and employment taxes that would
be payable at the time of grant. The 2022 grant was made on April 28, 2022 and equated to 11,664 shares of common stock, of
which 10,301 shares of common stock were issued, after shares were withheld for taxes. The Company recorded stock
compensation expense of approximately $1.5 million during 2022 associated with these grants.

The Company attempts to manage its transactional foreign exchange exposure by hedging foreign currency cash flow
forecasts and commitments arising from the anticipated settlement of receivables and payables and from future purchases and
sales. here naturally offsetting currency positions do not occur, the Company hedges certain, but not all, of its exposures
through the use of foreign currency contracts. The Company’s translation exposure resulting from translating the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries into nited States dollars may be partially hedged from time to time. hen practical, the
translation impact is reduced by financing local operations with local borrowings.

The Company uses floating rate and fixed rate debt to finance its operations. The floating rate debt obligations expose
the Company to variability in interest payments due to changes in the E RIBOR, SOFR or other applicable benchmark interest
rates. The Company believes it is prudent to limit the variability of a portion of its interest payments, and to meet that objective,
the Company periodically enters into interest rate swaps to manage the interest rate risk associated with the Company’s
borrowings. The Company designates interest rate contracts used to convert the interest rate exposure on a portion of the
Company’s debt portfolio from a floating rate to a fixed rate as cash flow hedges, while those contracts converting the
Company’s interest rate exposure from a fixed rate to a floating rate are designated as fair value hedges.

To protect the value of the Company’s investment in foreign operations against adverse changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, the Company from time to time, may hedge a portion of the Company’s net investment in the foreign
subsidiaries by using a cross currency swap. The component of the gains and losses on the Company’s net investment in the
designated foreign operations driven by changes in foreign exchange rates are economically offset by movements in the fair
value of the cross currency swap contracts.

The Company is exposed to commodity risk from steel and other raw material purchases where a portion of the
contractual purchase price is linked to a variable rate based on publicly available market data. From time to time, the Company
enters into cash flow hedges to mitigate its exposure to variability in commodity prices.

The Company’s senior management establishes the Company’s foreign currency and interest rate risk management
policies. These policies are reviewed periodically by the Finance Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. The policies
allow for the use of derivative instruments to hedge exposures to movements in foreign currency and interest rates.
The Company’s policies prohibit the use of derivative instruments for speculative purposes.

All derivatives are recognized on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. On the date the derivative
contract is entered into, the Company designates the derivative as either (1) a cash flow hedge of a forecasted transaction,
(2) a fair value hedge of a recognized liability, (3) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, or (4) a non-designated
derivative instrument.

The Company categorizes its derivative assets and liabilities into one of three levels based on the assumptions used
in valuing the asset or liability. See Note 13 for a discussion of the fair value hierarchy as per the guidance in ASC 820.
The Company’s valuation techniques are designed to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs.
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The Company regularly monitors the counterparty risk and credit ratings of all the counterparties to the derivative
instruments. The Company believes that its exposures are appropriately diversified across counterparties and that these
counterparties are creditworthy financial institutions. If the Company perceives any risk with a counterparty, then the Company
would cease to do business with that counterparty. There have been no negative impacts to the Company from any non-
performance of any counterparties.

The Company uses cash flow hedges to minimize the variability in cash flows of assets or liabilities or forecasted
transactions caused by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The changes in the fair values of these cash flow hedges
are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and are subsequently reclassified into “Cost of goods sold” during the
period the sales and purchases are recognized. These amounts offset the effect of the changes in foreign currency rates on the
related sale and purchase transactions.

During 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company designated certain foreign currency contracts as cash flow hedges of
expected future sales and purchases. The total notional value of derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges was
$364.8 million as of December 31, 2022. The Company did not have any derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges
related to foreign currency contracts as of December 31, 2021.

In December 2020, the Company designated certain steel commodity contracts as cash flow hedges of expected future
purchases of steel. The total notional value of derivatives that were designated as cash flow hedges was approximately
$0.9 million and $31.9 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the after-tax impact that changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash
flow hedges had on accumulated other comprehensive loss and net income during 2022, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Foreign currency contracts(1) ........................... $ (11.1) Cost of goods sold $ (10.6) $ 9,650.1
Commodity contracts(2) ................................... (3.5) Cost of goods sold (3.5) $ 9,650.1
Total................................................................. $ (14.6) $ (14.1)

Foreign currency contracts .............................. $ (7.4) Cost of goods sold $ (10.2) $ 8,566.0
Commodity contracts ...................................... 12.5 Cost of goods sold 13.2 $ 8,566.0
Total................................................................. $ 5.1 $ 3.0

Foreign currency contracts .............................. $ 4.6 Cost of goods sold $ 6.3 $ 7,092.2
Commodity contracts ...................................... 0.5 Cost of goods sold — 7,092.2
Total................................................................. $ 5.1 $ 6.3

(1) The outstanding contracts as of December 31, 2022 range in maturity through December 2023.
(2) The outstanding contracts as of December 31, 2022 range in maturity through April 2023.

The following table summarizes the activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the derivatives held by
the Company during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Accumulated derivative net losses as of December 31, 2019 .................................... $ (1.5) $ (0.2) $ (1.3)
Net changes in fair value of derivatives ..................................................................... 4.9 (0.2) 5.1
Net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income...... (6.4) (0.1) (6.3)
Accumulated derivative net losses as of December 31, 2020 .................................... $ (3.0) $ (0.5) $ (2.5)
Net changes in fair value of derivatives ..................................................................... 8.3 3.2 5.1
Net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income...... (5.8) (2.8) (3.0)
Accumulated derivative net losses as of December 31, 2021 .................................... $ (0.5) $ (0.1) $ (0.4)
Net changes in fair value of derivatives ..................................................................... (19.7) (5.1) (14.6)
Net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income..... 19.2 5.1 14.1
Accumulated derivative net losses as of December 31, 2022(1) ................................. $ (1.0) $ (0.1) $ (0.9)

(1)As of December 31, 2022, approximately $0.6 million and $0.4 million of derivative realized net losses, before taxes, remain in accumulated other
comprehensive loss related to foreign currency contracts and commodity contracts, respectively, associated with inventory that had not yet been sold.

97



The Company uses non-derivative and derivative instruments, to hedge a portion of its net investment in foreign
operations against adverse movements in exchange rates. For instruments that are designated as hedges of net investments in
foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments are recorded in foreign currency translation
adjustments, a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, to offset changes in the value of the net investments being
hedged. hen the net investment in foreign operations is sold or substantially liquidates, the amounts recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive loss are reclassified to earnings. To the extent foreign currency denominated debt is de-designated from
a net investment hedge relationship, changes in the value of the foreign currency denominated debt are recorded in earnings
through the maturity date.

In anuary 2018, the Company entered into a cross currency swap contract as a hedge of its net investment in foreign
operations to offset foreign currency translation gains or losses on the net investment. The cross currency swap expired on
anuary 19, 2021. At maturity of the cross currency swap contract, the Company delivered the notional amount of
approximately 245.7 million (or approximately $297.1 million as of anuary 19, 2021) and received $300.0 million from the
counterparties, resulting in a gain of approximately $2.9 million that was recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The Company received quarterly interest payments from the counterparties based on a fixed interest rate until maturity of the
cross currency swap.

On anuary 29, 2021, the Company entered into a new cross currency swap contract as a hedge of its net investment in
foreign operations to offset foreign currency translation gains or losses on the net investment. The cross currency swap has an
expiration date of anuary 29, 2028. At maturity of the cross currency swap contract, the Company will deliver the notional
amount of approximately 247.9 million (or approximately $265.1 million as of December 31, 2022) and will receive
$300.0 million from the counterparties. The Company will receive quarterly interest payments from the counterparties based
on a fixed interest rate until maturity of the cross currency swap.

The following table summarizes the notional values of the instrument designated as a net investment hedge
(in millions):

Cross currency swap contract ................................................................................. $ 300.0 $ 300.0

The following table summarizes the after-tax impact of changes in the fair value of the instrument designated as a net
investment hedge (in millions):

December 31, 2022.................................................................................... $ — $ — $ —
December 31, 2021.................................................................................... — — —
December 31, 2020.................................................................................... 1.7 — 1.7

December 31, 2022.................................................................................... 20.5 5.3 15.2
December 31, 2021.................................................................................... 11.0 3.2 7.8
December 31, 2020.................................................................................... (25.5) — (25.5)
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During 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company entered into foreign currency contracts to economically hedge receivables
and payables on the Company and its subsidiaries’ balance sheets that are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency. These contracts were classified as non-designated derivative instruments. Gains and losses on such
contracts are substantially offset by losses and gains on the remeasurement of the underlying asset or liability being hedged and
are immediately recognized into earnings. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had outstanding foreign currency
contracts with a notional amount of approximately $3,654.0 million and $3,681.9 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the results on net income of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments (in
millions):

Foreign currency contracts.............................. Other expense, net $ (38.2) $ 54.8 $ 3.7

The table below sets forth the fair value of derivative instruments as of December 31, 2022 (in millions):

Derivative instruments designated as
hedging instruments:
Foreign currency contracts........................ Other current assets $ 1.3 Other current liabilities $ 1.3
Commodity contracts ................................ Other current assets — Other current liabilities —
Cross currency swap contract.................... Other noncurrent assets 33.0 Other noncurrent liabilities —
Derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments:
Foreign currency contracts (1) ................... Other current assets 6.6 Other current liabilities 39.1
Total derivative instruments ................. $ 40.9 $ 40.4

(1) The outstanding contracts as of December 31, 2022 range in maturity through March 2023.

The table below sets forth the fair value of derivative instruments as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Derivative instruments designated as
hedging instruments:
Foreign currency contracts........................ Other current assets $ — Other current liabilities $ —
Commodity contracts ................................ Other current assets 0.2 Other current liabilities 2.0
Cross currency swap contract.................... Other noncurrent assets 12.5 Other noncurrent liabilities —
Derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments:
Foreign currency contracts........................ Other current assets 15.1 Other current liabilities 5.1
Total derivative instruments ................. $ 27.8 $ 7.1
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The future payments required under the Company’s significant commitments, excluding indebtedness, as of
December 31, 2022 are as follows (in millions):

The Company expects to make interest payments of approximately $35.4 million
during the year ended December 31, 2023 related to indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2022. Indebtedness amounts
reflect the principal amount of the Company’s senior term loan, senior notes, credit facility and certain short-term borrowings,
gross of any debt issuance costs. The projected amount of interest payments includes assumptions regarding the future
fluctuations in interest rates, as well as borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility and other variable debt
instruments. Refer to Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding indebtedness.
In addition, the Company expects to pay approximately $125.7 million of discounts on the sales of receivables related to the
Company’s finance joint ventures. The projected amount of discounts paid includes significant assumptions regarding future
amounts of receivables sold to the Company’s finance joint ventures as well as future fluctuations in interest rates.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had approximately $209.2 million of
outstanding purchase obligations payable during the year ended December 31, 2023. nconditional purchase obligations
generally do not vary materially year to year.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had approximately
$10.4 million of income tax liabilities related to uncertain income tax provisions connected with ongoing income tax audits in
various jurisdictions that it expects to pay or settle within the next 12 months. These liabilities and related income tax audits are
subject to statutory expiration. Additionally, the Company had approximately $36.3 million of estimated future minimum
contribution requirements under its .S. and non- .S. defined benefit pension and postretirement plans due during the year
ended December 31, 2023. Refer to Notes 6 and 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
regarding the Company’s uncertain tax positions and pension and postretirement plans, respectively. These obligations
comprise a majority of the Company’s other short-term and long-term obligations.

The Company maintains a remarketing agreement with its .S. finance joint venture, AGCO Finance C, whereby
the Company is obligated to repurchase up to $6.0 million of repossessed equipment each calendar year. The Company believes
that any losses that might be incurred on the resale of this equipment will not materially impact the Company’s financial
position or results of operations, due to the fair value of the underlying equipment.

At December 31, 2022, the Company has outstanding guarantees of indebtedness owed to related and third parties of
approximately $29.2 million, primarily related to dealer and end-user financing of equipment. Such guarantees generally
obligate the Company to repay outstanding finance obligations owed to financial institutions if dealers or end users default on
such loans through 2028. osses under such guarantees historically have been insignificant. In addition, the Company generally
would expect to be able to recover a significant portion of the amounts paid under such guarantees from the sale of the
underlying financed farm equipment, as the fair value of such equipment is expected to be sufficient to offset a substantial
portion of the amounts paid. The Company also guarantees indebtedness owed to certain of its finance joint ventures if dealers
or end users default on loans. osses under such guarantees historically have been insignificant and the guarantees are not
material. The Company believes the credit risk associated with these guarantees is not material.

In addition, at December 31, 2022, the Company had accrued approximately $18.6 million of outstanding guarantees
of minimum residual values that may be owed to its finance joint ventures in the nited States and Canada due upon expiration
of certain eligible operating leases between the finance joint ventures and end users. The maximum potential amount of future
payments under the guarantee is approximately $191.3 million.
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At December 31, 2022, the Company had outstanding designated and non-designated foreign exchange contracts with
a gross notional amount of approximately $4,318.8 million. The outstanding contracts as of December 31, 2022 range in
maturity through March 2023. The Company also had outstanding designated steel commodity contracts with a gross notional
amount of approximately $0.9 million that range in maturity through April 2023 (see Note 11).

The Company sells a majority of its wholesale receivables in North America, Europe and Brazil to its .S., Canadian,
European and Brazilian finance joint ventures. The Company also sells certain accounts receivable under factoring
arrangements to financial institutions around the world. The Company reviewed the sale of such receivables and determined
that these facilities should be accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions.

In 2008 and 2012, as part of routine audits, the Brazilian taxing authorities disallowed deductions relating to the
amortization of certain goodwill recognized in connection with a reorganization of the Company’s Brazilian operations and the
related transfer of certain assets to the Company’s Brazilian subsidiaries. The amount of the tax disallowance through
December 31, 2022, not including interest and penalties, was approximately 131.5 million Brazilian reais (or approximately
$24.9 million). The amount ultimately in dispute will be significantly greater because of interest and penalties. The Company
has been advised by its legal and tax advisors that its position with respect to the deductions is allowable under the tax laws of
Brazil. The Company is contesting the disallowance and believes that it is not likely that the assessment, interest or penalties
will be required to be paid. owever, the ultimate outcome will not be determined until the Brazilian tax appeal process is
complete, which could take several years.

On anuary 12, 2023, the Brazilian government issued a “ itigation ero” tax amnesty program, whereby cases being
disputed at the administrative court level of review for a period of more than ten years can be considered for amnesty.
If companies choose to enroll in the amnesty program, it would not be considered an admission of guilt with respect to
outstanding cases. The Company is considering whether or not to apply to enroll in the program by March 2023. The ultimate
outcome of the Company’s consideration with respect to its participation in the amnesty program cannot currently be
determined.

During 2017, the Company purchased Precision Planting, which provides precision agricultural technology solutions.
In 2018, Deere Company (“Deere”) filed separate complaints in the .S. District Court of Delaware against the Company
and Precision Planting alleging that certain products of those entities infringed certain patents of Deere. The two complaints
subsequently were consolidated into a single case, Case No. 1:18-cv-00827-CFC. In uly 2022, the case was tried before a jury,
which determined that the Company and Precision Planting had not infringed the Deere patents. The case currently is subject to
customary post-trial procedures, including the right of the parties to appeal. The Company has an indemnity right under the
purchase agreement related to the acquisition of Precision Planting from its previous owner. Pursuant to that right, the previous
owner of Precision Planting currently is responsible for the litigation costs associated with the complaint and is obligated to
reimburse AGCO for some or all of the damages in the event of an adverse outcome in the litigation.

The Company is a party to various other legal claims and actions incidental to its business. The Company believes that
none of these claims or actions, either individually or in the aggregate, is material to its business or financial statements as a
whole, including its results of operations and financial condition.
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The Company categorizes its assets and liabilities into one of three levels based on the assumptions used in valuing the
asset or liability. Estimates of fair value for financial assets and liabilities are based on a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Observable inputs (highest level) reflect market data obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs (lowest level) reflect internally developed market assumptions. In accordance
with this guidance, fair value measurements are classified under the following hierarchy:

evel 1 - uoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
evel 2 - uoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
evel 3 - Model-derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs are unobservable.

The Company categorizes its pension plan assets into one of the three levels of the fair value hierarchy. See Note 8 for
a discussion of the valuation methods used to measure the fair value of the Company’s pension plan assets.

The Company periodically enters into foreign currency, commodity and interest rate swap contracts. The fair values of
the Company’s derivative instruments are determined using discounted cash flow valuation models. The significant inputs used
in these models are readily available in public markets, or can be derived from observable market transactions, and therefore
have been classified as evel 2. Inputs used in these discounted cash flow valuation models for derivative instruments include
the applicable exchange rates, forward rates or interest rates. Such models used for option contracts also use implied volatility.
See Note 11 for a discussion of the Company’s derivative instruments and hedging activities.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are summarized
below (in millions):

Derivative assets................................................................................... $ — $ 40.9 $ — $ 40.9
Derivative liabilities ............................................................................. — 40.4 — 40.4

Derivative assets................................................................................... $ — $ 27.8 $ — $ 27.8
Derivative liabilities ............................................................................. — 7.1 — 7.1

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, net and accounts payable are valued at their carrying
amounts in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial
instruments.

The carrying amounts of long-term debt under the Company’s 1.002 senior term loan due 2025 and senior term
loans due between 2023 and 2028 approximate fair value based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for
loans with similar terms and average maturities. At December 31, 2022, the estimated fair value of the Company’s 0.800
senior notes due 2028, based on listed market values, was approximately 490.7 million (or approximately $524.6 million as of
December 31, 2022), compared to the carrying value of 600.0 million (or approximately $641.5 million as of
December 31, 2022). See Note 7 for additional information on the Company’s long-term debt.
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Rabobank, a financial institution based in the Netherlands, is a 51 owner in the Company’s finance joint ventures,
which are located in the nited States, Canada, Europe, Brazil, Argentina and Australia. Rabobank is also the principal agent
and participant in the Company’s revolving credit facility (see Note 7). The majority of the assets of the Company’s finance
joint ventures represents finance receivables. The majority of the liabilities represents notes payable and accrued interest.
nder the various joint venture agreements, Rabobank or its affiliates provide financing to the joint venture companies,
primarily through lines of credit. During 2022 and 2021, the Company did not make additional investments in its finance joint
ventures. During 2020, the Company made a total of approximately $1.9 million of additional investments in its finance joint
venture in the Netherlands. During 2022, the Company received approximately $27.0 million dividends from certain of its
finance joint ventures. During 2021, the Company received approximately $84.4 million dividends from certain of its finance
joint ventures. During 2020, the Company did not receive dividends from its finance joint ventures.

The Company’s finance joint ventures provide retail financing and wholesale financing to its dealers. The terms of
the financing arrangements offered to the Company’s dealers are similar to arrangements the finance joint ventures provide to
unaffiliated third parties. In addition, the Company transfers, on an ongoing basis, a majority of its wholesale receivables in
North America, Europe and Brazil to its .S., Canadian, European and Brazilian finance joint ventures (see Note 4).
The Company maintains a remarketing agreement with its .S. finance joint venture and has outstanding guarantees of
minimum residual values that may be owed to its finance joint ventures in the .S. and Canada upon the expiration of certain
eligible operating leases and also has guarantees with its other finance joint ventures which were not material (see Note 12).
In addition, as part of sales incentives provided to end users, the Company may from time to time subsidize interest rates of
retail financing provided by its finance joint ventures. The cost of those programs is recognized at the time of sale to the
Company’s dealers (see Note 1).

The Company has a minority equity interest in Tractors and Farm Equipment imited (“TAFE”), which manufactures
and sells Massey Ferguson-branded equipment primarily in India, and also supplies tractors and components to the Company
for sale in other markets. On October 15, 2020, TAFE repurchased 461,000 shares of its common stock from the Company for
approximately $33.9 million, resulting in an approximate remaining 20.7 ownership interest. Mallika Srinivasan, who is the
Chairman and Managing Director of TAFE, is currently a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. As of
December 31, 2022, TAFE beneficially owned 12,150,152 shares of the Company’s common stock, not including shares of the
Company’s common stock received by Ms. Srinivasan for service as a director. The Company and TAFE are parties to an
agreement pursuant to which, among other things, TAFE has agreed not to purchase in excess of 12,150,152 shares of the
Company’s common stock, subject to certain adjustments, and the Company has agreed to annually nominate a TAFE
representative to its Board of Directors. During 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased approximately $148.7 million,
$137.6 million and $78.9 million, respectively, of tractors and components from TAFE. During 2022, 2021 and 2020, the
Company sold approximately $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of parts to TAFE. The Company
received dividends from TAFE of approximately $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.8 million during 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
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The Company’s four reportable segments distribute a full range of agricultural equipment and related replacement
parts. The Company evaluates segment performance primarily based on income from operations. Sales for each segment are
based on the location of the third-party customer. The Company’s selling, general and administrative expenses and engineering
expenses are generally charged to each segment based on the region and division where the expenses are incurred. As a result,
the components of income from operations for one segment may not be comparable to another segment. Segment results for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 based on the Company’s reportable segments are as follows (in millions):

Net sales .................................................................. $ 3,175.1 $ 2,121.6 $ 6,447.3 $ 907.4 $ 12,651.4
Income from operations .......................................... 278.8 373.9 784.1 116.9 1,553.7
Depreciation............................................................ 60.5 29.4 104.7 14.9 209.5
Assets ...................................................................... 1,790.3 1,259.8 2,475.6 650.5 6,176.2
Capital expenditures................................................ 119.6 54.4 207.4 6.9 388.3

Net sales .................................................................. $ 2,659.2 $ 1,307.7 $ 6,221.7 $ 949.7 $ 11,138.3
Income from operations .......................................... 238.1 132.2 755.4 113.9 1,239.6
Depreciation............................................................ 60.8 26.5 116.5 16.9 220.7
Assets ...................................................................... 1,328.1 922.7 2,348.7 610.6 5,210.1
Capital expenditures................................................ 41.2 32.5 184.6 11.5 269.8

Net sales .................................................................. $ 2,175.0 $ 873.8 $ 5,366.9 $ 734.0 $ 9,149.7
Income from operations .......................................... 193.7 29.3 585.3 62.1 870.4
Depreciation............................................................ 61.3 25.8 110.5 14.9 212.5
Assets ...................................................................... 1,051.9 687.6 2,238.7 536.2 4,514.4
Capital expenditures................................................ 42.2 18.8 201.8 7.1 269.9
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A reconciliation from the segment information to the consolidated balances for income from operations and total assets
is set forth below (in millions):

Segment income from operations ........................................................ $ 1,553.7 $ 1,239.6 $ 870.4
Corporate expenses .............................................................................. (153.4) (135.2) (134.7)
Amortization of intangibles ................................................................. (60.1) (61.1) (59.5)
Stock compensation expense ............................................................... (32.7) (26.6) (36.8)
Impairment charges.............................................................................. (36.0) — (20.0)
Restructuring expenses ........................................................................ (6.1) (15.3) (19.7)
Consolidated income from operations ................................................. $ 1,265.4 $ 1,001.4 $ 599.7

Segment assets ..................................................................................... $ 6,176.2 $ 5,210.1 $ 4,514.4
Cash and cash equivalents.................................................................... 789.5 889.1 1,119.1
Investments in affiliates ....................................................................... 436.9 413.5 442.7
Deferred tax assets, other current and noncurrent assets ..................... 1,025.9 996.4 665.9
Intangible assets, net ............................................................................ 364.4 392.2 455.6
Goodwill .............................................................................................. 1,310.8 1,280.8 1,306.5
Consolidated total assets ...................................................................... $ 10,103.7 $ 9,182.1 $ 8,504.2

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use lease assets and amortizable intangible assets by country as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows (in millions):

nited States ....................................................................................................................... $ 571.0 $ 499.1
Germany.............................................................................................................................. 475.8 446.7
Brazil................................................................................................................................... 206.0 144.9
Finland ................................................................................................................................ 192.6 189.5
France.................................................................................................................................. 125.8 133.2
Italy ..................................................................................................................................... 102.7 112.7
China................................................................................................................................... 77.5 91.6
Denmark.............................................................................................................................. 71.4 84.7
Other ................................................................................................................................... 211.9 222.0

$ 2,034.7 $ 1,924.4
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Contract liabilities relate to the following: (1) unrecognized revenues where advance payment of consideration
precedes the Company’s performance with respect to extended warranty and maintenance contracts and where the performance
obligation is satisfied over time, (2) unrecognized revenues where advance payment of consideration precedes the Company’s
performance with respect to certain grain storage and protein production systems and where the performance obligation is
satisfied over time and (3) unrecognized revenues where advance payment consideration precedes the Company’s performance
with respect to precision technology services and where the performance obligation is satisfied over time.

Significant changes in the balance of contract liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as
follows (in millions):

Balance at beginning of period......................................................................................... $ 226.2 $ 172.0
Advance consideration received....................................................................................... 193.8 227.8
Revenue recognized during the period for extended warranty contracts, maintenance
services and technology services...................................................................................... (82.0) (64.0)
Revenue recognized during the period related to grain storage and protein production
systems ............................................................................................................................. (85.2) (103.5)
Foreign currency translation............................................................................................. (13.8) (6.1)
Balance as of December 31 .............................................................................................. $ 239.0 $ 226.2

The contract liabilities are classified as either “Other current liabilities” and “Other noncurrent liabilities” or
“Accrued expenses” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. In 2022, the Company recognized approximately
$115.6 million of revenue that was recorded as a contract liability at the beginning of 2022. In 2021, the Company recognized
approximately $80.7 million of revenue that was recorded as a contract liability at the beginning of 2021.

The estimated revenues expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
(or partially unsatisfied) as of December 31, 2022 are $83.7 million in 2023, $68.2 million in 2024, $38.5 million in 2025,
$19.1 million in 2026 and $8.9 million thereafter, and relate primarily to extended warranty contracts. The Company applied
the practical expedient in AS 2014-09 and has not disclosed information about remaining performance obligations that have
original expected durations of 12 months or less.
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Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2022 disaggregated by primary geographical markets and major products
consisted of the following (in millions):

Primary geographical markets:
nited States........................................ $ 2,546.9 $ — $ — $ — $ 2,546.9
Canada ................................................. 490.2 — — — 490.2
Germany .............................................. — — 1,394.9 — 1,394.9
France .................................................. — — 1,220.1 — 1,220.1
nited ingdom and Ireland............... — — 664.1 — 664.1
Finland and Scandinavia ..................... — — 838.8 — 838.8
Italy...................................................... — — 421.7 — 421.7
Other Europe ....................................... — — 1,691.5 — 1,691.5
Brazil ................................................... — 1,748.8 — — 1,748.8
Other South America........................... — 358.0 — — 358.0
Middle East and Algeria...................... — 216.2 — 216.2
Africa................................................... — — — 157.0 157.0
Asia...................................................... — — — 384.2 384.2
Australia and New ealand ................. — — — 366.2 366.2
Mexico, Central America and
Caribbean............................................. 138.0 14.9 — — 152.9

$ 3,175.1 $ 2,121.6 $ 6,447.3 $ 907.4 $ 12,651.4

Major products:
Tractors................................................ $ 1,191.1 $ 1,147.2 $ 4,607.2 $ 478.6 $ 7,424.1
Replacement parts ............................... 405.6 154.5 1,021.5 105.6 1,687.2
Grain storage and protein production
systems ................................................ 585.9 188.3 172.3 155.4 1,101.9
Combines, application equipment and
other machinery................................... 992.5 631.7 646.3 167.8 2,438.3

$ 3,175.1 $ 2,121.6 $ 6,447.3 $ 907.4 $ 12,651.4

(1) Rounding may impact the summation of amounts.
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Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2021 disaggregated by primary geographical markets and major products
consisted of the following (in millions):

Primary geographical markets:
nited States ....................................... $ 2,116.2 $ — $ — $ — $ 2,116.2
Canada................................................. 436.7 — — — 436.7
Germany.............................................. — — 1,332.0 — 1,332.0
France.................................................. — — 1,129.1 — 1,129.1
nited ingdom and Ireland............... — — 635.3 — 635.3
Finland and Scandinavia ..................... — — 836.3 — 836.3
Italy ..................................................... — — 451.6 — 451.6
Other Europe ....................................... — — 1,653.0 — 1,653.0
Brazil ................................................... — 1,017.8 — — 1,017.8
Other South America........................... — 277.0 — — 277.0
Middle East and Algeria...................... — — 184.4 — 184.4
Africa .................................................. — — — 152.3 152.3
Asia ..................................................... — — — 436.5 436.5
Australia and New ealand................. — — — 360.9 360.9
Mexico, Central America and
Caribbean ............................................ 106.3 12.9 — — 119.2

$ 2,659.2 $ 1,307.7 $ 6,221.7 $ 949.7 $ 11,138.3

Major products:
Tractors ............................................... $ 940.4 $ 664.6 $ 4,338.2 $ 443.7 $ 6,386.9
Replacement parts ............................... 379.1 131.8 1,070.5 106.5 1,687.9
Grain storage and protein production
systems ................................................ 534.9 140.1 174.0 227.1 1,076.1
Combines, application equipment and
other machinery................................... 804.8 371.2 639.0 172.4 1,987.4

$ 2,659.2 $ 1,307.7 $ 6,221.7 $ 949.7 $ 11,138.3
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Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2020 disaggregated by primary geographical markets and major products
consisted of the following (in millions):

Primary geographical markets:
nited States ....................................... $ 1,763.2 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,763.2
Canada................................................. 325.9 — — — 325.9
Germany.............................................. — — 1,280.6 — 1,280.6
France.................................................. — — 1,080.2 — 1,080.2
nited ingdom and Ireland............... — — 557.8 — 557.8
Finland and Scandinavia ..................... — — 698.5 — 698.5
Italy ..................................................... — — 322.6 — 322.6
Other Europe ....................................... — — 1,290.5 — 1,290.5
Brazil ................................................... — 667.1 — — 667.1
Other South America........................... — 198.3 — — 198.3
Middle East and Algeria...................... — — 136.7 — 136.7
Africa .................................................. — — — 58.3 58.3
Asia ..................................................... — — — 373.1 373.1
Australia and New ealand................. — — — 302.6 302.6
Mexico, Central America and
Caribbean ............................................ 85.9 8.4 — — 94.3

$ 2,175.0 $ 873.8 $ 5,366.9 $ 734.0 $ 9,149.7

Major products:
Tractors ............................................... $ 692.0 $ 469.8 $ 3,814.3 $ 296.1 $ 5,272.2
Replacement parts ............................... 338.4 84.0 936.1 87.2 1,445.7
Grain storage and protein production
systems ................................................ 471.0 82.8 122.2 226.0 902.0
Combines, application equipment and
other machinery................................... 673.6 237.2 494.3 124.7 1,529.8

$ 2,175.0 $ 873.8 $ 5,366.9 $ 734.0 $ 9,149.7
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The Company leases certain land, buildings, machinery, equipment, vehicles and office and computer equipment
under finance and operating leases. The Company accounts for these leases pursuant to AS 2016-02, “ eases”. nder the
standard, lessees are required to record an asset (a right-of-use “RO ” asset or finance lease asset) and a lease liability.
RO assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset during the lease term while lease liabilities represent the
Company’s obligation to make lease payments during the lease term. The standard allows for two types of leases for income
statement recognition purposes: operating leases and finance leases. Operating leases result in the recognition of a single lease
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term whereas finance leases result in an accelerated expense. AS 2016-02 also
contains guidance regarding the identification of embedded leases in service and supply contracts, as well as the identification
of lease and nonlease components of an arrangement. All leases greater than 12 months result in the recognition of an RO
asset and liability at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term.
The present value of the lease payments is calculated using the applicable weighted-average discount rate. The weighted-
average discount rate is based on the discount rate implicit in the lease, or if the implicit rate is not readily determinable from
the lease, then the Company estimates an applicable incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is estimated
using the currency denomination of the lease, the contractual lease term and the Company’s applicable borrowing rate.

The Company does not recognize an RO asset or lease liability with respect to operating leases with an initial term of
12 months or less and recognizes expense on such leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company accounts
for lease components separately from nonlease components other than for real estate and office equipment. The Company
evaluated its supplier agreements for the existence of leases and determined these leases comprised an insignificant portion of
its supplier agreements. As such, these leases were not material to the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company
has certain leases that contain one or more options to terminate or renew that can extend the lease term up to 14 years. Options
that the company is reasonably certain to exercise are included in the lease term. The depreciable life of RO assets and
leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term. The Company has certain lease agreements that include
variable rental payments that are adjusted periodically for inflation based on the index rate as defined by the applicable
government authority. Generally, the Company’s lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees or
restrictive covenants.

Total lease assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows (in millions):

Operating RO assets........ Right-of-use lease assets $ 163.9 $ 154.1
Finance lease assets ........... Property, plant and equipment, net(1) 6.7 10.6
Total lease assets........... $ 170.6 $ 164.7

Current:
Operating......................... Accrued expenses $ 42.2 $ 42.3
Finance............................ Other current liabilities 0.7 3.8

Noncurrent:
Operating......................... Operating lease liabilities 125.4 115.5
Finance............................ Other noncurrent liabilities 5.4 6.0
Total lease liabilities ..... $ 173.7 $ 167.6

(1) Finance lease assets are recorded net of accumulated depreciation of $5.1 million and $7.8 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Total lease costs for 2022 and 2021 are set forth below (in millions):

Operating lease cost.............................................
Selling, general and
administrative expenses $ 51.2 $ 59.0

Variable lease cost...............................................
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 1.7 1.0

Short-term lease cost ...........................................
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 17.5 18.7

Finance lease cost:
Amortization of lease assets ............................. Depreciation expense(1) 1.0 2.4
Interest on lease liabilities ................................ Interest expense, net 0.2 0.3
Total lease cost .................................................... $ 71.6 $ 81.4

(1) Depreciation expense was included in both cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses.

ease payment amounts for operating and finance leases with remaining terms greater than one year as of
December 31, 2022 were as follows (in millions):

2023 ................................................................................................................................... $ 47.8 $ 0.8
2024 ................................................................................................................................... 36.6 0.6
2025 ................................................................................................................................... 27.0 0.4
2026 ................................................................................................................................... 19.1 0.2
2027 ................................................................................................................................... 13.4 0.2
Thereafter........................................................................................................................... 51.2 6.0
Total lease payments.......................................................................................................... 195.1 8.2
ess: imputed interest(1) .................................................................................................. (27.5) (2.1)

Present value of lease liabilities......................................................................................... $ 167.6 $ 6.1

(1) Calculated using the implicit interest rate for each lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, when implicit rate is not available

ease payment amounts for operating and finance leases with remaining terms greater than one year as of
December 31, 2021 were as follows (in millions):

2022 ................................................................................................................................... $ 45.7 $ 4.0
2023 ................................................................................................................................... 36.2 0.9
2024 ................................................................................................................................... 24.5 0.6
2025 ................................................................................................................................... 17.3 0.4
2026 ................................................................................................................................... 12.3 0.2
Thereafter........................................................................................................................... 39.1 6.3
Total lease payments.......................................................................................................... 175.1 12.4
ess: imputed interest(1) .................................................................................................. (17.3) (2.5)

Present value of lease liabilities......................................................................................... $ 157.8 $ 9.9

(1) Calculated using the implicit interest rate for each lease or the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, when implicit rate is not available
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The following table summarizes the weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate:

eighted-average remaining lease term:
Operating leases.................................................................................. 7 years 7 years
Finance leases ..................................................................................... 17 years 12 years

eighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases.................................................................................. 4.7 3.1
Finance leases ..................................................................................... 2.7 2.4

The following table summarizes the supplemental cash flow information for 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases ................................................ $ 52.3 $ 59.8
Operating cash flows from finance leases ................................................... 0.2 0.2
Financing cash flows from finance leases ................................................... 1.0 2.6

eased assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases........................................................................................... $ 65.5 $ 50.6
Finance leases .............................................................................................. 0.4 0.9

112



None.

The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, does not expect
that the Company’s disclosure controls or the Company’s internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. owever, our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
effective at the reasonable assurance level. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost effective control
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. e will conduct periodic evaluations of our internal
controls to enhance, where necessary, our procedures and controls.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of
December 31, 2022, have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. In assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) in “ (2013).”

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2022. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2022, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is effective based on the criteria referred to above.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited
by PMG P, an independent registered public accounting firm, which also audited the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022. PMG P’s report on internal control over financial reporting is
set forth below.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. owever, as
a result of the Company’s processes to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, enhancements to the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting were implemented as management addressed and remediated deficiencies that had been
identified.
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
AGCO Corporation:

e have audited AGCO Corporation and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

e also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ( nited States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement Schedule II Valuation and ualifying
Accounts (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated March 1, 2023 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. e are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the .S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

e conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. e believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

s PMG P

Atlanta, Georgia
March 1, 2023
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None.

The information called for by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14, if any, will be contained in our Proxy Statement for the
2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we intend to file in March 2023.

The information with respect to directors and committees required by this Item set forth in our Proxy Statement for the
2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections entitled “Proposal Number 1 — Election of Directors” and “Board of
Directors and Corporate Governance” is incorporated herein by reference. The information with respect to executive officers
required by this Item set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section entitled
“Executive Compensation” is incorporated herein by reference.

See the information under the heading “Available Information” set forth in Part I of this Form 10- . The code of
conduct referenced therein applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer
and controller and the persons performing similar functions.

The information with respect to executive compensation and its establishment required by this Item set forth in our
Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the sections entitled “Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance,” “2022 CEO Pay Ratio,” “Executive Compensation” and “Compensation Committee Report” is incorporated
herein by reference.

AGCO maintains its Plan pursuant to which we may grant equity awards to eligible persons. For additional
information, see Note 10, “Stock Incentive Plan,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this filing.
The following table gives information about equity awards under our Plan.

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders ........................................... 902,086 $ 108.73 3,780,349
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders ...................................... — — —
Total ............................................................. 902,086 $ 108.73 3,780,349

The information required by this Item set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in
the section entitled “Principal olders of Common Stock” is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in
the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” is incorporated herein by reference.
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The information required by this Item set forth in our Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in
the sections entitled “Audit Committee Report” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” is incorporated herein by
reference.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10- :

(1) The Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm for AGCO Corporation and its subsidiaries are presented under Item 8 of this Form 10- .

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The following Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule of AGCO Corporation and its subsidiaries is included
herein and follows this report.

Schedule II Valuation and ualifying Accounts

Schedules other than that listed above have been omitted because the required information is contained in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements or because such schedules are not required or are not applicable.

(3) The following exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report. Each management contract or
compensation plan required to be filed as an exhibit is identified by an asterisk ( ). The exhibits below may not include all
instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt where the debt does not exceed 10 of the Company’s total assets.
The Company agrees to furnish copies of those instruments to the Commission upon request.

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation une 30, 2002, Form 10- , Exhibit 3.1

3.2 Bylaws October 31, 2022, Form 8- , Exhibit 3.1

4.1 Description of Securities March 1, 2021, Form 10- , Exhibit 4.1
4.2 Indenture, dated as of October 6, 2021 October 7, 2021, Form 8- , Exhibit 4.1
10.1 2006 ong-Term Incentive Plan September 30, 2017, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.5

10.2 2006 Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement March 31, 2006, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.4

10.3 2019 Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement anuary 22, 2019, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.2

10.4 2023 Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement anuary 13, 2023, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.3

10.5 2019 Form of Restricted Stock nits Agreement anuary 22, 2019, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.60 2023 Form of Restricted Stock nits Agreement anuary 13, 2023, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.2

10.70 2021 Form of Performance Share Agreement anuary 27, 2021, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.8 2023 Form of Performance Share Agreement anuary 13, 2023, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.9 Amended and Restated Executive Nonqualified Pension Plan April 12, 2021, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1
10.1 Annual Incentive Plan August 9, 2022, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.2
10.11 Executive Nonqualified Defined Contribution Plan December 31, 2015, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.9

10.12 Amended and Restated Employment and Severance Agreement
with Eric P. ansotia February 25, 2022, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.10

10.13 Employment and Severance Agreement with Damon . Audia une 15, 2022, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.14 Employment and Severance Agreement with Robert B. Crain December 31, 2017, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.13
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10.15 Employment and Severance Agreement with Torsten Dehner February 25, 2022, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.13
10.16 Credit Agreement dated as of une 27, 2022 August 9, 2022, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.1
10.17 Credit Agreement dated as of December 19, 2022 December 21, 2022, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.18
etter Agreement, dated November 5, 2015, between AGCO
International Gmb and TAFE International C, Turkey and
Tractors and Farm Equipment imited

September 30, 2015, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.1

10.19
Amended and Restated etter Agreement, dated April 24, 2019,
between AGCO Corporation and Tractors and Farm Equipment
imited

March 31, 2019, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.1

10.20
Farm and Machinery Distributor Agreement, dated anuary 1,
2012, between AGCO International Gmb and Tractors and
Farm Equipment imited

September 4, 2014, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.2

10.21 etter Agreement, dated August 3, 2007, between AGCO
Corporation and Tractors and Farm Equipment imited September 4, 2014, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.3

10.22
etter Agreement for Far East Markets, dated uly 24, 2017,
between AGCO International Gmb and Tractors and Farm
Equipment imited

uly 27, 2017, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.1

10.23
etter Agreement for Mexico, dated uly 24, 2017, between
AGCO International Gmb and Tractors and Farm Equipment
imited

uly 27, 2017, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.2

10.24
etter Agreement for Australia New ealand, dated uly 24,
2017, between AGCO International Gmb and Tractors and
Farm Equipment imited

uly 27, 2017, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.3

10.25
Amendment to the etter Agreement for Africa, dated uly 24,
2017, between AGCO International Gmb and Tractors and
Farm Equipment imited

uly 27, 2017, Form 8- , Exhibit 10.4

10.26 Current Director Compensation February 25, 2022, Form 10- , Exhibit 10.26

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith

23.1 Consent of PMG P Filed herewith

24.1 Powers of Attorney Filed herewith

31.1 Certification of Eric P. ansotia Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Damon Audia Filed herewith

32.1 Certification of Eric P. ansotia and Damon Audia Furnished herewith
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101 The following audited financial information from this Annual
Report on Form 10- for the year ended December 31, 2022,
are formatted in Inline BR :
(i) Consolidated Statements of Operations
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Filed herewith

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page from this
Annual Report on Form 10- for the year ended
December 31, 2022 is formatted in Inline BR

Filed herewith

None.

118



Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AGCO Corporation

By: s Eric P. ansotia
Eric P. ansotia

Dated: March 1, 2023

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the date indicated.

s Eric P. ansotia
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief

Executive Officer
March 1, 2023

Eric P. ansotia

s Damon Audia
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
March 1, 2023

Damon Audia

s ara T. ong
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
March 1, 2023

ara T. ong
s Michael C. Arnold Director March 1, 2023
Michael C. Arnold
s Sondra . Barbour Director March 1, 2023
Sondra . Barbour
s Suzanne P. Clark Director March 1, 2023
Suzanne P. Clark
s Bob De ange Director March 1, 2023
Bob De ange

s George E. Minnich Director March 1, 2023
George E. Minnich
s Niels P rksen Director March 1, 2023
Niels P rksen
s David Sagehorn Director March 1, 2023
David Sagehorn

s Mallika Srinivasan Director March 1, 2023
Mallika Srinivasan
s Matthew Tsien Director March 1, 2023
Matthew Tsien

By: s Damon Audia March 1, 2023
Damon Audia
Attorney-in-Fact
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ear ended December 31, 2022
Allowances for doubtful accounts .............. $ 32.6 $ 0.1 $ 3.3 $ (3.2) $ (1.5) $ 31.3
ear ended December 31, 2021
Allowances for doubtful accounts .............. $ 36.4 $ 0.2 $ 0.5 $ (2.8) $ (1.7) $ 32.6
ear ended December 31, 2020
Allowances for doubtful accounts .............. $ 28.8 $ — $ 14.5 $ (6.8) $ (0.1) $ 36.4

ear ended December 31, 2022
Accruals of severance, relocation and
other closure costs....................................... $ 14.7 $ 6.9 $ (0.8) $ (12.8) $ (1.2) $ 6.8
ear ended December 31, 2021
Accruals of severance, relocation and
other closure costs....................................... $ 16.8 $ 19.9 $ (2.3) $ (19.1) $ (0.6) $ 14.7
ear ended December 31, 2020
Accruals of severance, relocation and
other closure costs....................................... $ 4.8 $ 17.6 $ (0.4) $ (5.1) $ (0.1) $ 16.8

ear ended December 31, 2022
Deferred tax valuation allowance ............... $ 47.4 $ — $ 0.7 $ — $ (0.8) $ 47.3
ear ended December 31, 2021
Deferred tax valuation allowance ............... $ 181.0 $ 0.4 $ (130.8) $ — $ (3.2) $ 47.4
ear ended December 31, 2020
Deferred tax valuation allowance ............... $ 169.1 $ 0.9 $ 28.7 $ — $ (17.7) $ 181.0

(1) There were no amounts credited or charged through other comprehensive income during 2022 and 2021. Amounts credited through other
comprehensive income (loss) during the year ended December 31, 2020 was approximately $12.4 million.
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